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Details of the reporting period and the previous corresponding period 

Reporting period:   Year ended 30 June 2020 
Previous corresponding period:  Year ended 30 June 2019 

Results for announcement to the market 
 June 2020 

($’000) 
June 2019 

($’000) 
Change 
($’000) 

Change 
(%) 

Revenue from operating activities – continuing operations 51,129 53,602 (2,473) (4.6%) 

Net profit/(loss) for the period attributable to members of PS&C 3,036 (53,489) 56,525 105.7% 

EBITDA – continuing operations 2,435 (1,454) 3,889 267.5% 

EBITDA 2,680 2,390 290 12.1% 

Basic EPS – continuing operations 1.12 cents (18.83) cents 19.95 cents 105.9% 

Basic EPS 0.89 cents (19.14) cents 20.03 cents 104.6% 

Net Tangible Asset per Share 0.78 cents (5.52) cents 6.30 cents 114.1% 

 
Explanation of results 

Refer Chairman & CEO’s review and Directors’ Report documented in the attached Audited Annual Financial 
Report. 

Continuing operations has been shown above to provide a greater understanding of the underlying performance 
of the Group and a more representative comparison of financial performance between periods. 

This report should also be read in conjunction with any public announcements made by PS&C in accordance with 
the continuous disclosure requirements arising under the Corporations Act 2001 and ASX Listing Rules. 

 
Details of entities over which control has been gained or lost during the period   

Gained 

Respring Pty Ltd    - 1 April 2020 

Lost 

Certitude Pty Ltd    - 10 December 2019 
Hacklabs Pty Ltd on    - 10 December 2019 
PS&C Security Pty Ltd    - 10 December 2019 
Pure Hacking Pty Ltd    - 10 December 2019 
Securus Global Consulting Pty Ltd  - 10 December 2019 
GlassandCo Pty Ltd    - 31 January 2020 
NTH Consulting Pty Ltd    - 27 March 2020 
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Dividends 

Nil 

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 

Refer to attached Annual Report 

Statement of Financial Position 

Refer to attached Annual Report 

Statement of Changes in Equity 

Refer to attached Annual Report 

Statement of Cash Flows 

Refer to attached Annual Report 

Details of associates and joint venture entities 

Not Applicable 

Audit 

This Appendix 4E is based on the attached financial report. The financial report has been audited and contains an 
independent audit report. 

All information requiring disclosure to comply with listing rule 4.3A is contained in this report and the PS&C Limited 
Annual Report (attached) for the year ended 30 June 2020, including the signed Auditor’s Report. 

Date: 25 August 2020 

Vesna Jelesic 
Company Secretary 
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CORPORATE DIRECTION

PS&C has adopted an expanded 
vision that puts the future first by 
leveraging unique parts of our existing 
capabilities to expand the revenue 
base and developing (organically or 
via acquisition) digital assets that 
are owned by PS&C and where the 
commercial benefit is retained by PS&C. 
We will continue to enable clients to 
build digital assets via a fee-for-service 
model while building shareholder value 
as the portfolio of our owned assets 
increases and their commercialisations 
mature.
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BUSINESS PROFILE

PS&C Limited (PS&C) is a technology 
business focused on enabling its clients 
to deliver their digital aspirations while 
at the same time investing in a suite 
of digital assets in significant growth 
markets, and where the commercial 
benefit is retained by the business. PS&C 
has over 200 specialist consultants in 
Melbourne delivering technology based 
services to a broad range of blue-chip 
clients.
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Renata Sguario

MESSAGE FROM 
THE CHAIRMAN

To the PS&C Shareholders,

Who could have guessed the financial year would be shaped by a global pandemic - COVID-19. At the 
time of writing, COVID-19 has seen over 20 million people infected and very sadly more than 740,000 
losing their lives.  Whilst Australia has to a large extent avoided the human devastation seen in other 
parts of the world, the impact on the way we live and work has been enormous. Along with our peers 
in the business community, we adapted quickly with the health, safety and wellbeing of our people the 
priority. This action minimised the impact on the business and I believe that our full year results reflect 
this.  

During the 2020 financial year, PS&C successfully implemented the first step of its new vision to 
create shareholder value through ownership.  As our traditional fee-for-service model continues to 
be impacted by commoditisation to daily rates, effectively capping operating margins, your Board 
took steps to expand PS&C’s vision to improve shareholder value. The acquisition of Respring and the 
associated ownership of farmbuy.com, along with our investment in 1derful Group Pty Ltd, are part of 
our new vision.

We started the 2020 financial year with continued unease around going concern which led to the Board 
taking steps to divest a number of assets.  Pleasingly, the sale of our Security Segment to ASX Listed 
Tesserent Limited, allowed our shareholders to continue to hold an equity interest through the in-specie 
distribution in January 2020 which has since appreciated significantly. 

PS&C has successfully delivered on its commitments made during FY20 
enabling the Company to focus on the next chapter with a new level of 
enthusiasm and confidence that the future looks bright.

PSC GROUP 
ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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R E N A T A  S G U A R I O

Non-Executive Chairman

By the end of the financial year, strong financial discipline during the 2020 financial year, has enabled the 
Company to repay bank debt in full and reduce overall liabilities by $26.4 million. For now, in the absence 
of further M&A activity or other appropriate investments, PS&C will aim to maintain a strong Balance 
Sheet and direct surplus cash generated into organic growth opportunities.

During the 2020 financial year, PS&C’s former Chairman, Kevin McLaine and Non-Executive Director 
Nigel Warren resigned from PS&C. On behalf of the Board of PS&C Limited, I would like to thank Kevin 
and Nigel for their respective contributions.

The 2020 financial year also saw the departure of Glenn Fielding, the Company’s former CEO and 
Executive Director. Much of what was achieved in the first half was a result of a significant amount of 
work Glenn and his team put into transforming the business at a time when hard decisions had to be 
made. Glenn remains a welcomed material shareholder of PS&C and is supportive of our new vision.

Finally, I would like to thank the PS&C shareholders and our clients for continuing to support PS&C 
during 2020. We are grateful for the loyalty of our shareholders and clients and PS&C looks forward to 
working with you in 2021 and beyond. In addition, I would like to thank my fellow Directors, the PS&C 
Executive Management Team and our staff.  The PS&C Board is committed to working with the Executive 
Management Team to ensure we make the most of the changes made during the 2020 financial year 
and continue to provide a challenging and rewarding environment for our staff to deliver outstanding 
results.

We are grateful for the loyalty of our shareholders and clients and PS&C looks 
forward to working with you in 2021 and beyond.
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USING THE PAST TO BUILD THE FUTURE
The 2020 financial year was another year of significant change 
for PS&C Limited. With the divestment of our Security Segment, 
Glassandco in Queensland and Nth Consulting in Canberra, the 
Group was able to address concerns with the Balance Sheet. This 
enabled PS&C to embark on a new vision to diversify its revenue 
base through direct ownership and/or investment in digital assets 
whose past commercialisation has been for the exclusive benefit 
of the client. PS&C is well placed to continue to offer consulting 
services to its broad blue-chip client base while the balance sheet 
supports further investment in the commercialisation of farmbuy.
com, an asset in which PS&C owns a 100% interest in.

In a year that was interrupted by the global COVID-19 pandemic, 
PS&C has had a commendable year and one which is in line with 
market guidance set before the pandemic unfolded. Revenue 
from continuing operations reached $51.1 million and NPAT from 
continuing operations was $3.8 million giving rise to normalised 
positive Earnings Per Share (“EPS”) of $0.011 per share compared to 
normalised negative EPS of $0.188 per share for 2019.

PS&C’s balance sheet at financial year end showed a material 
improvement. Current assets exceeded current liabilities by $3.5 
million compared to negative $12.7 million as at 30 June 2019 a 
positive swing of $16.2 million.
 

CONSULTING BUSINESS
Revenue from the remaining consulting business was $51.1 million 
producing an EBITDA of $5.6 million. This result was in line with 
guidance set prior to COVID-19 and is testament to the resilience of 
this business achieved through robust relationships with our clients 
and the strength of our sales and recruitment teams.
PS&C finished the year with billable headcount of approximately 

202 after a period of contraction due to COVID-19 across April and 
May 2020. With the impact of COVID-19 now factored through 
the business, we are forecasting modest growth across the 2021 
financial year subject to continued client demand and industry 
conditions remaining stable.

Even though the COVID-19 pandemic poses a level of uncertainty, 
we are forecasting the Australian IT industry to remain buoyant, 
with sufficient demand to support the current business with 
modest growth. We will aim to maintain and grow our traditional 
core project services consultancy, and grow our Salesforce 
offering in line with strong client demand in cloud-based CRM 
implementations. 

PS&C will continue to assess opportunities to unlock the underlying 
value of the consulting business and remains open to participating 
in corporate activity in this regard.

FARMBUY.COM
A number of key milestones were delivered since acquiring farmbuy.
com as part of the Respring Pty Ltd acquisition in April 2020. 

The farmbuy.com site has been completely re-engineered providing 
the landscape for continued aggressive growth in the 2021 financial 
year in site sessions and site page views setting the foundations for 
an acceleration in the platforms commercialisation.

In the 2020 financial year, farmbuy.com had minimal revenue of 
$2,382 and delivered an EBITDA loss of $21,153 in the period after 
acquisition.

I would personally like to thank our entire staff base for continuing 
to stay focussed on delivering outstanding results for our clients, 
in what has been some of the most challenging circumstances we 
have faced in our history. In addition, on behalf of our entire staff 
base, I would like to thank our clients for putting their faith in PS&C 
and allowing us to participate in making their businesses great. 

During 2021, PS&C will focus on the continued development and 
execution of our vision which we are confident will yield rewards for 
our people, our clients and importantly our shareholders.

PS&C is well placed to continue to assist clients 
to build their products and services through its 
consulting business. At the same time, we will 
continue to commercialise and grow a portfolio of 
owned assets.

CEO + MANAGING DIRECTOR'S 
REPORT

R O B E R T  H O G E L A N D

Acting CEO and Managing Director

PSC GROUP 
ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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The Directors of PS&C Limited present their report, together with 
the financial statements of the consolidated group consisting 
of PS&C Ltd and the entities it controlled, (PS&C or the Group) 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2020 and Auditors’ Report 
thereon. This financial report has been prepared in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards.

DIRECTORS
The names of the Directors in office at any time during or since the 
end of the year are:

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MRS RENATA SGUARIO (CHAIRMAN)
•  Appointed Director 2 September 2019 and Chairman 28 

November 2019.
•  Renata is an experienced senior executive with almost three 

decades specialising in customer centred, technology-
led, business transformation at leading companies both in 
Australia and abroad. Mrs Sguario’s intersectoral career has 
seen her responsible for delivering large scale business and 
IT change, process optimisation and productivity uplift and 
mitigating strategic and operational risks in highly regulated 
environments. Renata holds a Bachelor of Computer Science 
and Information Management from The University of Melbourne 
and holds a Level 1 & 2 certificate from the Institute of Executive 
Coaching.

•  Renata is Chair of the Remuneration & Nomination Committee 
and a member of the Audit & Risk Management Committee.

MRS NICOLE FERRO
• Appointed Director 31 January 2020. 
•  Nicole is a highly experienced senior manager having worked 

across Telecommunications, Technology, Supply Chain Logistics 
and Transport industries. With specialisation in large scale 
business and technology transformation, she has been 
responsible for strategy development, program delivery and 
operating model change at the enterprise level.  With many 
years of experience in strategy and delivery Nicole brings 
knowledge of organisation governance and risk management 
to the Board of PS&C. Nicole holds a Master of Business 
(Organisation Development and Change Management) from 
Victoria University.

•  Nicole is Chair of the Audit & Risk Management Committee and a 
member of the Remuneration & Nomination Committee.

MR NICHOLAS CHAN
• Appointed Director 6 August 2020 .
•  Nicholas is currently Non-Executive Chairman of ASX-listed 

Betmakers Technology Group Ltd (ASX:BET), a platform for 
wagering operators globally. Nick has had more than 30 
years in senior leadership and held operational roles in media 
across Australia and New Zealand and consults to a number 
of companies in the digital, tech and marketing sectors with a 
particular focus on investment and business transformation. 
Nick has served as Group Chief Operating Officer at Seven West 
Media and prior to that, CEO of Pacific Magazines. At Seven, 
Nick was a director of the Yahoo7! joint venture and also of its 
healthengine.com.au start-up. He was CEO of ASX listed Text 
Media Group and has held various senior roles at ACP Publishing 
including Group Publisher and Chief Operating Officer. 

BOARD OF
DIRECTORS
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MR NIGEL WARREN
• Appointed Director 6 December 2017.
• Resigned 16 August 2019.
•  Nigel has been an investment Director for Invest Australia in 

San Francisco, the Vice President of Sales for Equilibrium Inc. an 
enterprise software and services company and the Australian 
Counsel-General in San Francisco. Nigel has also held the 
position of Senior Trade Commissioner Latin America based in 
Santiago, Chile. Nigel has a Bachelor of International Business 
and was Chair of the AICD. Nigel was a member of the Audit 
& Risk Management Committee (appointed 6 December 2017 
to 16 August 2019) and was a member of the Remuneration & 
Nomination Committee.

MR KEVIN MCLAINE
•  Appointed director 9 July 2013, appointed Chairman 6 December 

2017. 
• Resigned 28 November 2019.
•  Kevin has over 20 years’ experience in the Australian public 

market, having held senior roles at both Shomega Limited 
and CSG Limited. Kevin spent several years with GE Capital 
in Thailand as Managing Director of its commercial lending 
business. Kevin has also been the general manager of a 
manufacturing facility. Kevin holds a Bachelor of Business and 
is a Fellow of CPA Australia and a member of the AICD. Kevin 
was Chair of the Audit & Risk Management Committee (Chair 
from 30 May 2017 to 6 December 2017) and was Chair of the 
Remuneration & Nomination Committee (appointed 6 December 
2017). Kevin holds a Bachelor of Business and is a Fellow of CPA 
Australia and a member of the AICD.  

MR GLENN FIELDING
•  Appointed 1 October 2019.
• Resigned 31 January 2020.
•  Glenn is a very experienced senior executive in the IT services 

industry and has a history of creating value demonstrated 
through his positions at UXC Limited, DWS Limited, SMS 
Consulting Group, and Ingena Group Limited. Glenn was most 
recently Chief Executive Officer of Professional Solutions at 
UXC from 2008 to 2016. Glenn was a founding member of SMS 
Consulting Group and during his 13 years at SMS and performed 
many senior roles including commercial management and 
merger and acquisition activities. Glenn was instrumental in 
setting up and running the national contracting arm of SMS. 
Glenn has also held senior IT management roles in banking and 
finance industries. 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MR ROBERT HOGELAND
•  Appointed 16 August 2019.
•  Robert has extensive experience in the IT Services industry 

spanning more than 15 years where he has played a key role 
building and managing successful consulting companies. He is 
presently the CEO having joined PS&C Ltd as part of the Seisma 
Pty Ltd acquisition completed in March 2018. Previously, Robert 
worked as the Group Executive, Southern Region at ASX listed 
RXP Services Limited. The appointment at RXP followed 9 years 
as a major account executive at FinXL Professional Solutions. 
Robert has a Bachelor of Business degree from Monash 
University. 

MR GLENN FIELDING
• Appointed 19 May 2017.
• Resigned 30 September 2019.
•  Glenn is a very experienced senior executive in the IT services 

industry and has a history of creating value demonstrated 
through his positions at UXC Limited, DWS Limited, SMS 
Consulting Group, and Ingena Group Limited. Glenn was most 
recently Chief Executive Officer of Professional Solutions at 
UXC from 2008 to 2016. Glenn was a founding member of SMS 
Consulting Group and during his 13 years at SMS and performed 
many senior roles including commercial management and 
merger and acquisition activities. Glenn was instrumental in 
setting up and running the national contracting arm of SMS. 
Glenn has also held senior IT management roles in banking and 
finance industries. 

GROUP SECRETARY
The following person held the position of Group Secretary at the 
end of the financial year:

MRS VESNA JELESIC
•  Vesna has an extensive background in all facets of finance 

and administration having held senior positions at Bank 
Australia, National Australia Bank and KPMG prior to joining 
PS&C in 2016 as the Company’s General Manager – Finance 
and Administration. Vesna is a Certified Practising Accountant 
and holds a Bachelor of Commerce (B.Com.) with majors in 
Accounting and Finance, Management and Commercial Law 
from Deakin University.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activities of the consolidated entity during the financial year consisted of:
•  Provision of information technology services.

RESULTS
The consolidated profit after income tax attributable to the members of PS&C Ltd was $3,036,124. This represents profit for the period 
between 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020 for the parent and operating entities including discontinued operations.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
Refer to the messages from the Chairperson and Managing Director on pages 4-6.

FINANCIAL POSITION
The Directors believe the Group is in a stable financial position to expand and grow its current operations with $1,477,504 of cash, access to 
funds under the Scottish Pacific Debtor Facility and access to capital via the equity markets.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS
During the year, the Group divested its share of its Security Segment, GlassandCo Pty Ltd and NTH Consulting Pty Ltd, as outlined in Note 8 
and purchased Respring Pty Ltd as outlined in Note 44.

EVENTS AFTER BALANCE DATE
Disclosure about COVID-19 and its impact on the Group has created unprecedented uncertainty in the economic environment that we 
operate within. Actual economic events and conditions in future may be materially different from those realised in the 2020 financial year 
and projected for the 2021 financial year. In the event the COVID-19 pandemic impacts are more severe or prolonged than anticipated, this 
may have further effects on the financial position of the Group. 

As at the date of the Financial Statements, an estimate of the future effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Groups financial performance 
and/or financial position cannot be made, as the impact will depend on the magnitude and duration of the economic downturn with the full 
range of monetary impacts unknown.

Except for the above, no other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial period which significantly affect the 
operations of the Group, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Group in future financial years.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS
To further improve the consolidated group’s profit and maximise shareholder wealth, the following developments are intended for 
implementation in the near future:

•  Continue to grow our general IT competency through our support of Tier 1, Tier 2 and Government Agency clients. Will continue to grow 
our Artisan investment by growing Salesforce capabilities into our existing clients, and through leveraging our Salesforce expertise to 
garner new clients and agreements.

•  Continue to grow and commercialise the farmbuy.com website through investment in sales and marketing now that the site has been 
re-engineered and re-platformed.

•  To assess further opportunities to acquire and/or invest in digital assets where the Company has direct ownership in their 
commercialisation.

These developments, together with the current strategy, are expected to assist in the achievement of the consolidated group’s long-term 
goals and development of new business opportunities.

DIRECTORS'
REPORT
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ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION
The consolidated entity’s operations are not subject to any significant Commonwealth or State environmental regulations or laws.

DIVIDENDS PAID, RECOMMENDED AND DECLARED

2020 2019

After the end of the financial year, the Directors declared there would be no final dividend (2019: nil) $0.00 $0.00

DIRECTOR'S MEETINGS

Board of Directors
Audit & Risk Management 

Committee
Remuneration & Nomination 

Committee

Eligible to 
attend

Attended
Eligible to 

attend
Attended

Eligible to 
attend

Attended

Renata Sguario 11 11 1 1 0 0

Robert Hogeland 12 12 3 3 0 0

Nicole Ferro 5 5 1 1 0 0

Kevin McLaine 8 8 3 3 1 1

Glenn Fielding 10 10 2 2 0 0

Nigel Warren 3 3 0 0 1 1

DIRECTOR’S INTERESTS IN SHARES OR OPTIONS
Directors’ relevant interest in shares of PS&C Ltd or options over shares in the Group are detailed below:

DIRECTORS’ RELEVANT INTERESTS IN: ORDINARY SHARES OF PS&C LTD OPTIONS OVER SHARES

Renata Sguario 500,000 NIL

Robert Hogeland 13,725,492 NIL

Nicole Ferro NIL NIL

Kevin McLaine 4,949,832 NIL

Glenn Fielding 12,983,590 NIL

Nigel Warren NIL NIL
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EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN SHARES OR OPTIONS
Executives’ relevant interest in shares of PS&C Ltd or options over shares in the Group are detailed below:

DIRECTORS’ RELEVANT INTERESTS IN: ORDINARY SHARES OF PS&C LTD OPTIONS OVER SHARES
Kurt Hansen 5,835,734 NIL

Jeff Bennett 6,116,024 NIL

Vesna Jelesic 100,000 NIL

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS, OFFICERS AND AUDITORS
During the financial year, the Group paid a premium to insure the Directors and Officers of the Group. The terms of the insurance contract 
prevent additional disclosure. The Group is not aware of any liability that arose under these indemnities as at the date of this report.

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE CONSOLIDATED ENTITY
No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the consolidated entity.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
Directors’ interests in contracts are disclosed in Note 39 of the financial statements.

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
A copy of the Auditor’s Independence Declaration as required under s307C of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit for the 
financial year is provided in this report.

NON-AUDIT SERVICES
Non-audit services are approved by resolution of the Audit & Risk Management Committee and approval is provided in writing to the Board 
of Directors. Non-audit services provided by the auditors of the consolidated entity during the year, Moore Australia, are detailed below. The 
Directors are satisfied that the provision of the non-audit services during the year by the auditor is compatible with the general standard of 
independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001.

2020 
$

2019 
$

Amounts paid and payable to Moore Australia for non-audit services

Software  $4,000 NIL

Other  NIL $2,140

Total  $4,000 $2,140

REMUNERATION REPORT - AUDITED
The Directors present the consolidated entity’s 2020 audited remuneration report which details the remuneration information for PS&C 
Ltd’s Executive Directors, Non-Executive Directors and other key management personnel.

PRINCIPLES USED TO DETERMINE THE NATURE AND AMOUNT OF REMUNERATION
The Board policy for determining the nature and amount of remuneration of key management personnel is agreed by the Board of 
Directors as a whole. The Board obtains professional advice where necessary to ensure that the Group attracts and retains talented and 
motivated Directors and employees who can enhance Group performance through their contributions and leadership. No remuneration 
recommendation was obtained in the current year.

PSC GROUP 
ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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FIXED REMUNERATION
Fixed remuneration consists of base remuneration (which is calculated on a total cost basis and includes any fringe benefits tax charges 
related to employee benefits), and employer contributions to superannuation funds.
Remuneration levels will be reviewed annually by the Board through a process that considers individual, business unit and overall 
performance of the Group. In addition, the Board considers external data to ensure Directors’ and executives’ remuneration is competitive in 
the marketplace. Remuneration is also reviewed on promotion.

PERFORMANCE LINKED REMUNERATION
Performance linked remuneration includes short-term incentives and is designed to reward the CEO and executives for meeting or 
executing their financial and personal objectives.

The Board sets the Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for the CEO and has input to the KPIs for executives. The KPIs generally include 
measures relating to the Group, the relevant business unit and the individual. They include financial measures (Revenue and EBITDA 
compared with budgeted amounts) and people, client, strategy, risks and growth measures (these vary with position and include measures 
such as achieving strategic outcomes, overall shareholder value and meeting leadership objectives).

The Board has developed an Employee and Director Option Plan. The Option Plan is aimed at incentivising employees to aid the Group in 
retaining skilled staff. Option grants are issued at a 15% premium to the share price at the time of issue and they vest over a period of three 
years.  In addition, options have been granted to Directors, key management personnel and other management, vesting over 3 years and 
exercise prices of between $0.39 and $1.20. Refer to the following tables as well as Note 29 to the accounts.

The Board have a performance rights plan in place for senior executives, the details which are outlined below.

Non-Executive Directors receive fees and do not receive bonus payments.

The names and positions of each person who held the position of Director at any time during the financial year is provided previously. The 
names and positions of other key management personnel in the consolidated Group for the financial year are:

Name Position

Jeff Bennett Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary

Kurt Hansen Executive General Manager – Security 

Vesna Jelesic Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary
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DETAILS OF REMUNERATION
Details of the remuneration of the Directors and key management personnel of the Group are set out in the following tables. The key 
management personnel of the Group include the Directors of PS&C Ltd, the Chief Financial Officer and the Executive General Manager – 
Security.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

SHORT-TERM
POST 

EMPLOYMENT
SHARE-BASED 

PAYMENTS
TOTAL

TOTAL 
PERFORMANCE 

RELATED

OPTIONS / 
SHARES AS % OF 

TOTAL

Salary/Fees Superannuation Options/Shares

$ $ $ $ % %

2019

Kevin McLaine 120,000 - - 120,000 - -

Glenn Fielding 408,120 38,771 (264,608) 182,283 (145.16%) (145.16%)

Nigel Warren 75,000 7,125 - 82,125 - -

Total 603,120 45,896 (264,608) 384,408 (145.16%) (145.16%)

2020

Nigel Warren¹ 12,500 1,188 - 13,688 - -

Kevin McLaine² 50,000 - - 50,000 - -

Glenn Fielding³ 249,361 10,700 260,061 - -

Robert Hogeland⁴ 320,000 - - 320,000 - -

Renata Sguario⁵ 54,833 - - 54,833 - -

Nicole Ferro⁶ 21,766 2,067 - 23,833 - -

Total 708,460 13,955 - 722,415 - -

(1) Nigel Warren resigned 16 August 2019
(2) Kevin McLaine resigned 28 November 2019
(3) Glenn Fielding resigned 31 January 2020
(4) Robert Hogeland appointed 16 August 2019
(5) Renata Sguario appointed 2 September 2019
(6) Nicole Ferro appointed 31 January 2020

EXECUTIVES’ REMUNERATION

SHORT-TERM
POST 

EMPLOYMENT
SHARE-BASED 

PAYMENTS
TOTAL

TOTAL 
PERFORMANCE 

RELATED

OPTIONS / 
SHARES AS % OF 

TOTAL

Salary/Fees Superannuation Options/ Shares

$ $ $ $ % %

2019

Kurt Hansen 373,086 35,443 16,697 425,227 3.93% 3.93%

Jeff Bennett 275,422 26,165 17,047 318,634 5.34% 5.34%

Total 648,508 61,608 33,745 743,861 4.54% 4.54%

2020

Kurt Hansen¹ 337,176 13,032 - 350,208 - -

Jeff Bennett² 574,773 23,435 - 598,208 - -

Vesna Jelesic³ 60,000 5,700 - 65,700 - -

Total 971,949 42,167 - 1,014,116 - -

(1) Kurt Hansen resigned 10 December 2019
(2) Jeff Bennett resigned as CFO 28 February 2020 and as Company Secretary 1 June 2020
(3) Vesna Jelesic appointed CFO 1 April 2020 and Company Secretary 1 June 2020

PSC GROUP 
ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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OPTIONS
(a) Compensation Options: There were no options granted nor did any vest during the year.

SERVICE AGREEMENTS
The contracts for service between the Group and specified executives are formalised in service agreements. The major provisions in the 
agreements relating to remuneration are set out below:

ROBERT HOGELAND, ACTING CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
- Permanent employment contract commencing 12 June 2018.
- Remuneration:
 - Base salary $120,000 inclusive of superannuation
 - Short term incentive (STI) of $200,000 with the following targets:
  - EBITDA targets – 60% of STI
  - Retention of key talent – 20% of STI
  - Management of key relationships – 10% of STI
  - Achievement of strategic goals – 10% of STI
 - Long term incentive (LTI):
  - Performance rights in PS&C shares based on service (50%) and successful divestment of assets (50%)
  - Termination by provision of 3 months’ notice by the executive and 6 months by PS&C.

VESNA JELESIC, CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER & COMPANY SECRETARY
- Permanent employment contract commencing 1 April 2020.
- Remuneration:
 - Base salary $262,800 inclusive of superannuation
 -  Short term incentive (STI) of  up to 20% of annual salary If the Company exceeds the Annual forecast approved by the Board of 

Directors. 
 

End of Remuneration Report.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

Robert Hogeland,  Acting CEO and Managing Director
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

UNDER S 307C OF THE CORPORATIONS ACT 2001  

TO THE DIRECTORS OF PS&C LIMITED & CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

 

 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 June 2020, there have 

been: 

 

i. no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 

2001 in relation to the audit; and 

 

ii. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MOORE AUSTRALIA AUDIT (VIC) 

ABN 16 847 721 257 

 

 

 

 

GEORGE S DAKIS 

Partner 

Audit and Assurance  

 

Melbourne, Victoria 

 

25 August 2020 
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PPSS&&CC  LLttdd  
SSttaatteemmeenntt  ooff  pprrooffiitt  oorr  lloossss  aanndd  ootthheerr  ccoommpprreehheennssiivvee  iinnccoommee  
FFoorr  tthhee  yyeeaarr  eennddeedd  3300  JJuunnee  22002200  
 

  
      CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
   NNoottee   22002200   22001199**  
      $$   $$  
           

The above statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes 

1 

 
RReevveennuuee  ffrroomm  ccoonnttiinnuuiinngg  ooppeerraattiioonnss   4  51,129,285   53,602,211  
  
Other income  5  3,359,647   12,975  
  
EExxppeennsseess        
Third party materials and labour    (11,107,278)  (16,894,352) 
Acquisition expenses  44  (125,386)  (645,037) 
Employee benefits expense    (34,468,601)  (31,918,931) 
Depreciation and amortisation expense  6  (571,064)  (149,505) 
Impairment of assets  15  -    (49,629,677) 
Loss on disposal of assets    -    (43,274) 
Contingent consideration adjustments expense    -    (1,070,008) 
Other expenses    (3,717,663)  (5,534,348) 
Finance costs    (1,056,368)  (1,045,623) 
  
PPrrooffiitt//((lloossss))  bbeeffoorree  iinnccoommee  ttaaxx  bbeenneeffiitt  ffrroomm  ccoonnttiinnuuiinngg  ooppeerraattiioonnss     3,442,572   (53,315,569) 
  
Income tax benefit  7  360,343   680,634  
  
Profit/(loss) after income tax benefit from continuing operations    3,802,915   (52,634,935) 
       
Loss after income tax expense from discontinued operations  8  (766,791)  (854,378) 
  
PPrrooffiitt//((lloossss))  aafftteerr  iinnccoommee  ttaaxx  ((eexxppeennssee))//bbeenneeffiitt  ffoorr  tthhee  yyeeaarr  aattttrriibbuuttaabbllee  ttoo  tthhee  
mmeemmbbeerrss  ooff  PPSS&&CC  LLttdd  

 
33 

 
3,036,124  

 
(53,489,313) 

  

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax    -    -   
  
TToottaall  ccoommpprreehheennssiivvee  iinnccoommee  ffoorr  tthhee  yyeeaarr  aattttrriibbuuttaabbllee  ttoo  tthhee  mmeemmbbeerrss  ooff  PPSS&&CC  
LLttdd  

 
 

 
3,036,124  

 
(53,489,313) 

  
Total comprehensive income for the year is attributable to:       
Continuing operations    3,802,915   (52,634,935) 
Discontinued operations    (766,791)  (854,378) 
       
    3,036,124   (53,489,313) 

  
* The 30 June 2019 balances have been restated to remove discontinued operations – refer note 8 
      CCeennttss   CCeennttss  
           
EEaarrnniinnggss  ppeerr  sshhaarree  ffoorr  pprrooffiitt//((lloossss))  ffrroomm  ccoonnttiinnuuiinngg  ooppeerraattiioonnss  aattttrriibbuuttaabbllee  ttoo  
tthhee  mmeemmbbeerrss  ooff  PPSS&&CC  LLttdd  

 
 

 
 

 
 

Basic earnings per share  47  1.12  (18.83) 
Diluted earnings per share  47  1.12  (18.83) 
       
EEaarrnniinnggss  ppeerr  sshhaarree  ffoorr  pprrooffiitt//((lloossss))  aattttrriibbuuttaabbllee  ttoo  tthhee  mmeemmbbeerrss  ooff  PPSS&&CC  LLttdd        
Basic earnings per share  47  0.89  (19.14) 
Diluted earnings per share  47  0.89  (19.14) 
  

PPSS&&CC  LLttdd  
SSttaatteemmeenntt  ooff  ffiinnaanncciiaall  ppoossiittiioonn  
AAss  aatt  3300  JJuunnee  22002200  
 

  
      CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
   NNoottee   22002200   22001199  
      $$   $$  
           

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
2 

AAsssseettss        
       
CCuurrrreenntt  aasssseettss        
Cash and cash equivalents  9  1,477,504   4,285,600  
Trade and other receivables  10  7,091,955   12,760,194  
Income tax refund due  11  359,062   -   
Other  12  2,169,996   2,420,644  
Total current assets    11,098,517   19,466,438  
       
NNoonn--ccuurrrreenntt  aasssseettss        
Property, plant and equipment  13  239,700   684,962  
Right-of-use assets  14  1,087,999   -   
Intangibles  15  32,998,048   47,256,427  
Deferred tax  16  -    1,126,519  
Total non-current assets    34,325,747   49,067,908  
       
TToottaall  aasssseettss     45,424,264   68,534,346  
  

LLiiaabbiilliittiieess        
       
CCuurrrreenntt  lliiaabbiilliittiieess        
Trade and other payables  17  2,264,983   9,450,513  
Borrowings  18  -    10,300,000  
Lease liabilities  19  529,483   -   
Income tax  20  -    615,455  
Employee benefits  21  189,332   902,826  
Deferred consideration  22  524,167   7,108,502  
Other  23  4,091,664   3,814,733  
Total current liabilities    7,599,629   32,192,029  
       
NNoonn--ccuurrrreenntt  lliiaabbiilliittiieess        
Borrowings  24  -    78,370  
Lease liabilities  26  421,965   -   
Deferred tax  25  67,038   -   
Employee benefits  27  60,867   194,707  
Contingent consideration  28  -    1,630,434  
Deferred consideration  29  144,790   995,295  
Other  30  66,193   -   
Total non-current liabilities    760,853   2,898,806  
       
TToottaall  lliiaabbiilliittiieess     8,360,482   35,090,835  
  
NNeett  aasssseettss     37,063,782   33,443,511  

  

EEqquuiittyy        
Issued capital  31  90,354,877   91,207,294  
Reserves  32  1,500,760   593,769  
Accumulated losses  33  (54,791,855)  (58,357,552) 
       
TToottaall  eeqquuiittyy     37,063,782   33,443,511  
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PPSS&&CC  LLttdd  
SSttaatteemmeenntt  ooff  ffiinnaanncciiaall  ppoossiittiioonn  
AAss  aatt  3300  JJuunnee  22002200  
 

  
      CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
   NNoottee   22002200   22001199  
      $$   $$  
           

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
2 

AAsssseettss        
       
CCuurrrreenntt  aasssseettss        
Cash and cash equivalents  9  1,477,504   4,285,600  
Trade and other receivables  10  7,091,955   12,760,194  
Income tax refund due  11  359,062   -   
Other  12  2,169,996   2,420,644  
Total current assets    11,098,517   19,466,438  
       
NNoonn--ccuurrrreenntt  aasssseettss        
Property, plant and equipment  13  239,700   684,962  
Right-of-use assets  14  1,087,999   -   
Intangibles  15  32,998,048   47,256,427  
Deferred tax  16  -    1,126,519  
Total non-current assets    34,325,747   49,067,908  
       
TToottaall  aasssseettss     45,424,264   68,534,346  
  

LLiiaabbiilliittiieess        
       
CCuurrrreenntt  lliiaabbiilliittiieess        
Trade and other payables  17  2,264,983   9,450,513  
Borrowings  18  -    10,300,000  
Lease liabilities  19  529,483   -   
Income tax  20  -    615,455  
Employee benefits  21  189,332   902,826  
Deferred consideration  22  524,167   7,108,502  
Other  23  4,091,664   3,814,733  
Total current liabilities    7,599,629   32,192,029  
       
NNoonn--ccuurrrreenntt  lliiaabbiilliittiieess        
Borrowings  24  -    78,370  
Lease liabilities  26  421,965   -   
Deferred tax  25  67,038   -   
Employee benefits  27  60,867   194,707  
Contingent consideration  28  -    1,630,434  
Deferred consideration  29  144,790   995,295  
Other  30  66,193   -   
Total non-current liabilities    760,853   2,898,806  
       
TToottaall  lliiaabbiilliittiieess     8,360,482   35,090,835  
  
NNeett  aasssseettss     37,063,782   33,443,511  

  

EEqquuiittyy        
Issued capital  31  90,354,877   91,207,294  
Reserves  32  1,500,760   593,769  
Accumulated losses  33  (54,791,855)  (58,357,552) 
       
TToottaall  eeqquuiittyy     37,063,782   33,443,511  

  



PPSS&&CC  LLttdd  
SSttaatteemmeenntt  ooff  cchhaannggeess  iinn  eeqquuiittyy  
FFoorr  tthhee  yyeeaarr  eennddeedd  3300  JJuunnee  22002200  
 

  

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
3 

   IIssssuueedd     RReesseerrvveess   RReettaaiinneedd   
TToottaall  eeqquuiittyy     ccaappiittaall      pprrooffiittss   

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp   $$   $$   $$   $$  
              
Balance at 1 July 2018  85,029,409  818,803  (4,868,239)  80,979,973 
         
Loss after income tax benefit for the year  -  -  (53,489,313)  (53,489,313) 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  -  -  -  - 
         
Total comprehensive income for the year  -  -  (53,489,313)  (53,489,313) 
         
Transactions with members in their capacity as members:         
Share-based payments (note 31)  6,177,885  -  -  6,177,885 
Employee share options/Performance rights reserve (note 32)  -  (225,034)  -  (225,034) 
         
Balance at 30 June 2019  91,207,294  593,769  (58,357,552)  33,443,511 

  
   IIssssuueedd     RReesseerrvveess   RReettaaiinneedd   

TToottaall  eeqquuiittyy     ccaappiittaall      pprrooffiittss   
CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp   $$   $$   $$   $$  
              
Balance at 1 July 2019  91,207,294  593,769  (58,357,552)  33,443,511 
         
Profit after income tax benefit for the year  -  -  3,036,124  3,036,124 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  -  -  -  - 
         
Total comprehensive income for the year  -  -  3,036,124  3,036,124 
         
Transactions with members in their capacity as members:         
Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs (note 31)  2,397,583  -  -  2,397,583 
In-specie distribution (note 31)  (8,500,000)  -  -  (8,500,000) 
Share-based payments (note 31)  5,250,000  -  -  5,250,000 
Revaluation of Performance rights (note 32)  -  (64,429)  -  (64,429) 
Transfer of expired Performance rights to retained earnings (note 32)  -  (496,497)  496,497  - 
Transfer of expired share options to retained earnings (note 32)  -  (33,076)  33,076  - 
Revaluation of Investments (note 32)  -  1,500,000  -  1,500,000 
Options granted (note 32)  -  993  -  993 
         
Balance at 30 June 2020  90,354,877  1,500,760  (54,791,855)  37,063,782 
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PPSS&&CC  LLttdd  
SSttaatteemmeenntt  ooff  ccaasshh  fflloowwss  
FFoorr  tthhee  yyeeaarr  eennddeedd  3300  JJuunnee  22002200  

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
NNoottee  22002200  22001199  

$$  $$  

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
4 

CCaasshh  fflloowwss  ffrroomm  ooppeerraattiinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess  
Receipts from customers (inclusive of GST) 80,590,606 98,981,223 
Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of GST) (82,316,893)  (93,582,529) 

(1,726,287)  5,398,694 
Interest received 5,176 13,447 
Other revenue 1,370,685 13,262 
Interest and other finance costs paid (1,074,312)  (865,385) 
Income taxes refunded 564,157 397,233 

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 35 (860,581) 4,957,251 

CCaasshh  fflloowwss  ffrroomm  iinnvveessttiinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess  
Payment for purchase of business, net of cash acquired 44 175,358 (121,082) 
Payments for prior period's business acquisition 44 (2,860,224)  (3,090,448) 
Acquisition Costs (137,925) (269,541) 
Payments for property, plant and equipment (101,248)  (372,738) 
Payments for development of intangibles (145,430) -  
Proceeds from disposal of business 8 9,488,437 1,090,516 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 13 52,509 1,644 
Proceeds from release of security deposits 8,854 5,503 

Net cash from/(used in) investing activities 6,480,331 (2,756,146) 

CCaasshh  fflloowwss  ffrroomm  ffiinnaanncciinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess  
Proceeds from issue of shares 31 2,529,467 -  
Repayment of bank loans 18 (10,300,000)  (2,602,026) 
Share issue transaction costs 31 (131,884) -  
Interest and other finance costs paid (57,916)  -  
Principal lease repayments 19 (467,513)  -  

Net cash used in financing activities (8,427,846) (2,602,026) 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (2,808,096)  (400,921) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 4,285,600 4,686,521 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 9 1,477,504 4,285,600 



PPSS&&CC  LLttdd  
NNootteess  ttoo  tthhee  ffiinnaanncciiaall  ssttaatteemmeennttss  
3300  JJuunnee  22002200  
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NNoottee  11..  SSiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess  
  
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These policies have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
  
NNeeww  oorr  aammeennddeedd  AAccccoouunnttiinngg  SSttaannddaarrddss  aanndd  IInntteerrpprreettaattiioonnss  aaddoopptteedd  
The Group has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period. 
  
Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early adopted. 
  
The adoption of these Accounting Standards and Interpretations did not have any significant impact on the financial performance or 
position of the Group. 
  
The following Accounting Standards and Interpretations are most relevant to the Group: 
  
AAAASSBB  1166  LLeeaasseess  
The Group has adopted AASB 16 from 1 July 2019. The standard replaces AASB 117 'Leases' and for lessees eliminates the 
classifications of operating leases and finance leases. Except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets, right-of-use assets 
and corresponding lease liabilities are recognised in the statement of financial position. Straight-line operating lease expense 
recognition is replaced with a depreciation charge for the right-of-use assets (included in operating costs) and an interest expense 
on the recognised lease liabilities (included in finance costs). In the earlier periods of the lease, the expenses associated with the 
lease under AASB 16 will be higher when compared to lease expenses under AASB 117. However, EBITDA (Earnings Before Interest, 
Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation) results improve as the operating expense is now replaced by interest expense and depreciation 
in profit or loss. For classification within the statement of cash flows, the interest portion is disclosed in operating activities and the 
principal portion of the lease payments are separately disclosed in financing activities. For lessor accounting, the standard does not 
substantially change how a lessor accounts for leases. 
 
On 1 July 2019, the Group recognised right-of-use assets of $1,991,964 and lease liabilities of $1,899,453. Following adoption of this 
new standard, EBITDA increased by $525,428 during the financial year and the net profit after tax increased by $18,238 during the 
current financial year. The repayment of the principal portion of the lease liabilities will be classified as cash flows from financing 
activities, thus increasing operating cash flows by $467,513. 
  
BBaassiiss  ooff  pprreeppaarraattiioonn  
HHiissttoorriiccaall  ccoosstt  ccoonnvveennttiioonn  
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for, where applicable, the revaluation of 
financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, 
investment properties, certain classes of property, plant and equipment and derivative financial instruments. 
  
CCrriittiiccaall  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  eessttiimmaatteess  
The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to 
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement 
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in note 2. 
  
GGooiinngg  ccoonncceerrnn  
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes the continuity of normal 
business activities and the settlement of liabilities in the normal course of business. During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group 
incurred a net profit after tax of $3,036,124 (2019: loss of $53,489,313) and at that date, the Group's current assets exceeded its 
current liabilities by $3,498,888.  
 
The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in the Group experiencing challenging and uncertain times. Whilst the situation is 
evolving, the Directors remain confident that the Group will be able to continue as a going concern which assumes it will be able to 
continue trading and realise assets and discharge liabilities in the ordinary course of business for at least 12 months from the date 
of the consolidated financial statements. 
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PPaarreenntt  eennttiittyy  iinnffoorrmmaattiioonn  
In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, these financial statements present the results of the Group only. Supplementary 
information about the parent entity is disclosed in note 43. 
  
PPrriinncciipplleess  ooff  ccoonnssoolliiddaattiioonn  
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of PS&C Ltd ('Company' or 'parent 
entity') as at 30 June 2020 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. PS&C Ltd and its subsidiaries together are 
referred to in these financial statements as the 'Group'. 
  
Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or 
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to 
direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They 
are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. 
  
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in the Group are eliminated. Unrealised 
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies 
of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 
  
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. A change in ownership interest, without 
the loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction, where the difference between the consideration transferred and the 
book value of the share of the non-controlling interest acquired is recognised directly in equity attributable to the parent. 
  
Where the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets including goodwill, liabilities and non-controlling interest 
in the subsidiary together with any cumulative translation differences recognised in equity. The Group recognises the fair value of 
the consideration received and the fair value of any investment retained together with any gain or loss in profit or loss. 
  
OOppeerraattiinngg  sseeggmmeennttss  
Operating segments are determined by distinguishable components whereby the risk and returns are different from the other 
segments. 
  
RReevveennuuee  rreeccooggnniittiioonn  
Revenues arise mainly from consulting and IT services. 
 
The Group recognises contract liabilities for consideration received in respect of unsatisfied performance obligations and reports 
these amounts as other liabilities in the statement of financial position. Similarly, if the Group satisfies a performance obligation 
before it receives the consideration, the Group recognises either a contract asset or a receivable in its statement of financial position, 
depending on whether something other than passage of time is required before the consideration is due. 
  
CCoonnssuullttiinngg  aanndd  IITT  sseerrvviicceess  
The Group provides consulting services relating to ICT projects, contractor management, recruitment, business transformation and 
digital strategies. Revenue from these services is recognised on a time-and-materials basis as the services are provided. Customers 
are invoiced monthly as work progresses. Any amounts remaining unbilled at the end of a reporting period are presented in the 
statement of financial position as accounts receivable as only the passage of time is required before payment of these amounts will 
be due as accrued revenue. 
  
IInntteerreesstt  
Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of calculating the amortised 
cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period using the effective interest rate, which is the rate 
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of 
the financial asset. 
  
OOtthheerr  rreevveennuuee  
Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established. 
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GGoovveerrnnmmeenntt  GGrraannttss  
Government grants such as the JobKeeper subsidy are recognised at fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant 
will be received and all grant conditions will be met. Grants relating to expense items are recognised as income over the periods 
necessary to match the grant to the costs it is compensating. Grants relating to assets are credited to deferred income at fair value 
and are credited to income over the expected useful life of the asset on a straight-line basis.  
  
IInnccoommee  ttaaxx  
The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on that period's taxable income based on the applicable income 
tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by the changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences, 
unused tax losses and the adjustment recognised for prior periods, where applicable. 
  
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to be applied when the assets 
are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates that are enacted or substantively enacted, except for: 
●  When the deferred income tax asset or liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not 

a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting nor taxable profits; or 
●  When the taxable temporary difference is associated with interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures, and the timing of the reversal 

can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
  
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future 
taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 
  
The carrying amount of recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date. Deferred tax assets 
recognised are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that future taxable profits will be available for the carrying amount 
to be recovered. Previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that there are future 
taxable profits available to recover the asset. 
  
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current 
tax liabilities and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities; and they relate to the same taxable authority on either the same 
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend to settle simultaneously. 
  
A discontinued operation is a component of the Group that has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale and that represents 
a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations, is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of such a line of 
business or area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. The results of discontinued operations 
are presented separately on the face of the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
  
Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-current classification. 
 
An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the Group's normal 
operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is expected to be realised within 12 months after the reporting period; 
or the asset is cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 12 months after 
the reporting period. All other assets are classified as non-current. 
 
A liability is classified as current when: it is either expected to be settled in the Group's normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for 
the purpose of trading; it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or there is no unconditional right to defer 
the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other liabilities are classified as non-current. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are always classified as non-current. 
  
CCaasshh  aanndd  ccaasshh  eeqquuiivvaalleennttss 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
  
FFiinnaanncciiaall  IInnssttrruummeennttss  
Initial recognition and measurement 
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Financial assets and liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. For 
financial assets, this is the equivalent to the date that the Group commits itself to either the purchase or sale of the asset (i.e. trade 
date accounting is adopted). 

Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value adjusted for transaction costs, except where the instrument is classified as 
fair value through profit or loss, in which case the transaction costs are immediately recognised as expenses in profit or loss. 

CCllaassssiiffiiccaattiioonn  ooff  ffiinnaanncciiaall  aasssseettss  
Financial assets recognised by the Group are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, subject 
to their classification and whether the Group irrevocably designates the financial asset on initial recognition at fair value through 
other comprehensive income in accordance with the relevant criteria in AASB 9. 

Financial assets not irrevocably designated on initial recognition at fair value through other comprehensive income are classified as 
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income or fair value through profit or loss on 
the basis of both: 

(a) the Group's business model for managing the financial assets; and
(b) the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

CCllaassssiiffiiccaattiioonn  ooff  ffiinnaanncciiaall  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  
Financial liabilities as held for trading, contingent consideration payable by the Group for the acquisition of a business and financial 
liabilities designated at fair value through the profit or loss, are subsequently measured at fair value. 

All other financial liabilities recognised by the Group are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 

TTrraaddee  aanndd  ootthheerr  rreecceeiivvaabblleess  
Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less any allowance for expected credit losses. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 days. 

Impairment of financial assets 

The following financial assets are tested for impairment by applying the 'expected credit loss' impairment model: 

(a) debt instruments measured at amortised cost;
(b) debt instruments classified at fair value through other comprehensive income; and
(c) receivables from contracts with customers and contract assets.
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The Group applies the simplified approach under AASB 9 to measuring the allowance for credit losses for both receivables from 
contracts with customers and contract assets. Under the AASB 9 simplified approach, the Group determines the allowance for credit 
losses for receivables from contracts with customers and contract assets on the basis of the lifetime of expected credit losses of 
the financial asset. Lifetime expected credit losses represent the expected credit losses that are expected to result from default 
events over the expected life of the financial asset. 
 
For all other financial assets subject to impairment testing, when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since the initial 
recognition of the financial asset, the allowance for credit losses is recognised on the basis of the lifetime expected credit losses. 
Where there has not been an increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the allowance for credit losses is recognised on the basis 
of 12-month expected credit losses. '12-month expected credit losses' is the portion of lifetime expected credit losses that represent 
the expected credit losses that result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the 
reporting date. 
 
The Group considers a range of information when assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial 
recognition. This includes such factors as the identification of significant changes in external market indicators of credit risk, 
significant adverse changes in the financial performance or financial position of the counterparty, significant changes in the value of 
collateral, and past due information. 
 
The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has not increased significantly since initial recognition when the financial 
asset is determined to have a low credit risk at the reporting date. The Group considers a financial asset to have a low credit risk 
when the counterparty has an external ‘investment grade’ credit rating (if available) of BBB or higher, or otherwise is assessed by 
the Group to have a strong financial position and no history of past due amounts from previous transactions with the Group. 
 
The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual 
payments are more than 30 days past due. 
 
The Group determines expected credit losses using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted 
for factors that are specific to the financial asset as well as current and future expected economic conditions relevant to the financial 
asset. When material, the time value of money is incorporated into the measurement of expected credit losses. There has been no 
change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the reporting period. 
 
The Group has identified contractual payments more than 90 days past due as default events for the purpose of measuring expected 
credit losses. These default events have been selected based on the Group’s historical experience. Because contract assets are 
directly related to unbilled work in progress, contract assets have a similar credit risk profile to receivables from contracts with 
customers. Accordingly, the Group applies the same approach to measuring expected credit losses of receivables from contracts 
with customers as it does to measuring impairment losses on contract assets. 
 
The measurement of expected credit losses reflects the Group’s ‘expected rate of loss’, which is a product of the probability of default 
and the loss given default, and its ‘exposure at default’, which is typically the carrying amount of the relevant asset. Expected credit 
losses are measured as the difference between all contractual cash flows due and all contractual cash flows expected based on the 
Group’s exposure at default, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. 
 
Financial assets are regarded as ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events have occurred that have a detrimental impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset. Indicators that a financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ include observable data about 
the following: 
 
(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower; 
(b) breach of contract; 
(c) the lender, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, has granted concessions to the 
borrower that the lender would not otherwise consider; or 
(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation. 
 
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (i.e. reduced directly) when the counterparty is in severe financial 
difficulty and the Group has no realistic expectation of recovery of the financial asset. Financial assets written off remain subject to 
enforcement action by the Group. Recoveries, if any, are recognised in profit or loss. 
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PPrrooppeerrttyy,,  ppllaanntt  aanndd  eeqquuiippmmeenntt  
Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Historical cost includes expenditure 
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 
  
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the net cost of each item of property, plant and equipment (excluding 
land) over their expected useful lives as follows: 
  
Leasehold improvements  3 - 5 years 
Plant and equipment  2.5 - 5 years 
  
The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. 
  
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future economic benefit to the Group. 
Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal proceeds are taken to profit or loss. Any revaluation surplus reserve 
relating to the item disposed of is transferred directly to retained profits. 
  
RRiigghhtt--ooff--uussee  aasssseettss  
A right-of-use asset is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which comprises 
the initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted for, as applicable, any lease payments made at or before the commencement date 
net of any lease incentives received, any initial direct costs incurred, and, except where included in the cost of inventories, an estimate 
of costs expected to be incurred for dismantling and removing the underlying asset, and restoring the site or asset. 
  
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful life of the 
asset, whichever is the shorter. Where the Group expects to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the 
depreciation is over its estimated useful life. Right-of use assets are subject to impairment or adjusted for any remeasurement of 
lease liabilities. 
  
IInnttaannggiibbllee  aasssseettss  
GGooooddwwiillll  
Goodwill arises on the acquisition of a business. Goodwill is not amortised. Instead, goodwill is tested annually for impairment, or 
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are taken to profit or loss and are not subsequently reversed. 
  
RReesseeaarrcchh  aanndd  ddeevveellooppmmeenntt  
Research costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Development costs are capitalised when it is probable that the 
project will be a success considering its commercial and technical feasibility; the group is able to use or sell the asset; the group has 
sufficient resources; and intent to complete the development and its costs can be measured reliably. Capitalised development costs 
are amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of their expected benefit, being their finite life of 7 years. 
  
WWeebbssiittee  
Significant costs associated with the development of the revenue generating aspects of the website, including the capacity of placing 
orders, are deferred and amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of their expected benefit, being their finite life of 3 years. 
  
IInntteelllleeccttuuaall  pprrooppeerrttyy  
Significant costs associated with intellectual property are capitalised at cost on acquisition. They are considered to have an indefinite 
useful life so are not subject to amortisation. 
  
PPaatteennttss  aanndd  ttrraaddeemmaarrkkss  
Significant costs associated with patents and trademarks are capitalised at cost on acquisition. They are considered to have an 
indefinite useful life so are not subject to amortisation. 
  
Goodwill and other intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for 
impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other non-financial 
assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
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Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. The value-in-use is the present 
value of the estimated future cash flows relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount rate specific to the asset or cash-generating 
unit to which the asset belongs. Assets that do not have independent cash flows are grouped together to form a cash-generating 
unit. 

TTrraaddee  aanndd  ootthheerr  ppaayyaabblleess  
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year and which are 
unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised cost and are not discounted. The amounts are unsecured 
and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 

LLeeaassee  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  
A lease liability is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The lease liability is initially recognised at the present value of 
the lease payments to be made over the term of the lease, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate 
cannot be readily determined, the Group's incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments comprise of fixed payments less any lease 
incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, amounts expected to be paid under residual value 
guarantees, exercise price of a purchase option when the exercise of the option is reasonably certain to occur, and any anticipated 
termination penalties. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are expensed in the period in which they 
are incurred. 

Lease liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The carrying amounts are remeasured if there 
is a change in the following: future lease payments arising from a change in an index or a rate used; residual guarantee; lease term; 
certainty of a purchase option and termination penalties. When a lease liability is remeasured, an adjustment is made to the 
corresponding right-of use asset, or to profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is fully written down. 

FFiinnaannccee  ccoossttss  
Finance costs attributable to qualifying assets are capitalised as part of the asset. All other finance costs are expensed in the period 
in which they are incurred. 

PPrroovviissiioonnss  
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present (legal or constructive) obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable 
the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount 
recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date, 
taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. If the time value of money is material, provisions are 
discounted using a current pre-tax rate specific to the liability. The increase in the provision resulting from the passage of time is 
recognised as a finance cost. 

EEmmppllooyyeeee  bbeenneeffiittss  

SShhoorrtt--tteerrmm  eemmppllooyyeeee  bbeenneeffiittss  
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long service leave expected to be settled wholly 
within 12 months of the reporting date are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 

OOtthheerr  lloonngg--tteerrmm  eemmppllooyyeeee  bbeenneeffiittss  
The liability for annual leave and long service leave not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are measured 
as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date 
using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee 
departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on corporate 
bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

SShhaarree--bbaasseedd  ppaayymmeennttss  
Equity-settled and cash-settled share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees. 
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Equity-settled transactions are awards of shares, or options over shares, that are provided to employees in exchange for the 
rendering of services. Cash-settled transactions are awards of cash for the exchange of services, where the amount of cash is 
determined by reference to the share price. 
  
The cost of equity-settled transactions are measured at fair value on grant date. Fair value is independently determined using either 
the Binomial or Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of 
dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk 
free interest rate for the term of the option, together with non-vesting conditions that do not determine whether the Group receives 
the services that entitle the employees to receive payment. No account is taken of any other vesting conditions. 
  
The cost of equity-settled transactions are recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity over the vesting period. 
The cumulative charge to profit or loss is calculated based on the grant date fair value of the award, the best estimate of the number 
of awards that are likely to vest and the expired portion of the vesting period. The amount recognised in profit or loss for the period 
is the cumulative amount calculated at each reporting date less amounts already recognised in previous periods. 
  
The cost of cash-settled transactions is initially, and at each reporting date until vested, determined by applying either the Binomial 
or Black-Scholes option pricing model, taking into consideration the terms and conditions on which the award was granted. The 
cumulative charge to profit or loss until settlement of the liability is calculated as follows: 
●  During the vesting period, the liability at each reporting date is the fair value of the award at that date multiplied by the expired portion of the 

vesting period. 
●  From the end of the vesting period until settlement of the award, the liability is the full fair value of the liability at the reporting date. 
  
All changes in the liability are recognised in profit or loss. The ultimate cost of cash-settled transactions is the cash paid to settle the 
liability. 
  
Market conditions are taken into consideration in determining fair value. Therefore any awards subject to market conditions are 
considered to vest irrespective of whether or not that market condition has been met, provided all other conditions are satisfied. 
  
If equity-settled awards are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the modification has not been made. An additional 
expense is recognised, over the remaining vesting period, for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based 
compensation benefit as at the date of modification. 
  
If the non-vesting condition is within the control of the Group or employee, the failure to satisfy the condition is treated as a 
cancellation. If the condition is not within the control of the Group or employee and is not satisfied during the vesting period, any 
remaining expense for the award is recognised over the remaining vesting period, unless the award is forfeited. 
  
If equity-settled awards are cancelled, it is treated as if it has vested on the date of cancellation, and any remaining expense is 
recognised immediately. If a new replacement award is substituted for the cancelled award, the cancelled and new award is treated 
as if they were a modification. 
  
FFaaiirr  vvaalluuee  mmeeaassuurreemmeenntt  
When an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure purposes, the fair value 
is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date; and assumes that the transaction will take place either: in the principal market; or in the 
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market. 
  
Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming they 
act in their economic best interests. For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement is based on its highest and best use. 
Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, are 
used, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 
  
IIssssuueedd  ccaappiittaall  
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 
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Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the 
proceeds. 

BBuussiinneessss  ccoommbbiinnaattiioonnss  
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations regardless of whether equity instruments or 
other assets are acquired. 

The consideration transferred is the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred, equity instruments issued or 
liabilities incurred by the acquirer to former owners of the acquiree and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. 
For each business combination, the non-controlling interest in the acquiree is measured at either fair value or at the proportionate 
share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. All acquisition costs are expensed as incurred to profit or loss. 

On the acquisition of a business, the Group assesses the financial assets acquired and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification 
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic conditions, the Group's operating or accounting policies and 
other pertinent conditions in existence at the acquisition-date. 

Where the business combination is achieved in stages, the Group remeasures its previously held equity interest in the acquiree at 
the acquisition-date fair value and the difference between the fair value and the previous carrying amount is recognised in profit or 
loss. 

Contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at the acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent changes in 
the fair value of the contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration 
classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. 

The difference between the acquisition-date fair value of assets acquired, liabilities assumed and any non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree and the fair value of the consideration transferred and the fair value of any pre-existing investment in the acquiree is 
recognised as goodwill. If the consideration transferred and the pre-existing fair value is less than the fair value of the identifiable 
net assets acquired, being a bargain purchase to the acquirer, the difference is recognised as a gain directly in profit or loss by the 
acquirer on the acquisition-date, but only after a reassessment of the identification and measurement of the net assets acquired, the 
non-controlling interest in the acquiree, if any, the consideration transferred and the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the 
acquirer. 

Business combinations are initially accounted for on a provisional basis. The acquirer retrospectively adjusts the provisional amounts 
recognised and also recognises additional assets or liabilities during the measurement period, based on new information obtained 
about the facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition-date. The measurement period ends on either the earlier of (i) 12 
months from the date of the acquisition or (ii) when the acquirer receives all the information possible to determine fair value. 

EEaarrnniinnggss  ppeerr  sshhaarree  

BBaassiicc  eeaarrnniinnggss  ppeerr  sshhaarree  
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the members of PS&C Ltd, excluding any costs of servicing 
equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted 
for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the financial year. 

DDiilluutteedd  eeaarrnniinnggss  ppeerr  sshhaarree  
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account the after 
income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted average 
number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

GGooooddss  aanndd  SSeerrvviicceess  TTaaxx  ((''GGSSTT''))  aanndd  ootthheerr  ssiimmiillaarr  ttaaxxeess  
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not recoverable from 
the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable from, 
or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in the statement of financial position. 
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Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities which 
are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating cash flows. 
  
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority. 
  
NNeeww  AAccccoouunnttiinngg  SSttaannddaarrddss  aanndd  IInntteerrpprreettaattiioonnss  nnoott  yyeett  mmaannddaattoorryy  oorr  eeaarrllyy  aaddoopptteedd  
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet mandatory, have 
not been early adopted by the Group for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2020. The Group's assessment of the impact of 
these new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations, most relevant to the Group, are set out below. 
  
The revised Conceptual Framework is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020 and early adoption 
is permitted. The Conceptual Framework contains new definition and recognition criteria as well as new guidance on measurement 
that affects several Accounting Standards. Where the Group has relied on the existing framework in determining its accounting 
policies for transactions, events or conditions that are not otherwise dealt with under the Australian Accounting Standards, the Group 
may need to review such policies under the revised framework. At this time, the application of the Conceptual Framework is not 
expected to have a material impact on the Group's financial statements. 
  

NNoottee  22..  CCrriittiiccaall  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  jjuuddggeemmeennttss,,  eessttiimmaatteess  aanndd  aassssuummppttiioonnss  
  
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates in relation to assets, 
liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its judgements, estimates and assumptions on historical 
experience and on other various factors, including expectations of future events, management believes to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal the related actual results. The judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities (refer to the respective notes) within the next financial year are discussed below. 
  
SShhaarree--bbaasseedd  ppaayymmeenntt  ttrraannssaaccttiioonnss  
The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments 
at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by using either the Binomial or Black-Scholes model taking into 
account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted. The accounting estimates and assumptions relating to 
equity-settled share-based payments would have no impact on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next annual 
reporting period but may impact profit or loss and equity. 
  
AAlllloowwaannccee  ffoorr  eexxppeecctteedd  ccrreeddiitt  lloosssseess  
The allowance for expected credit losses assessment requires a degree of estimation and judgement. It is based on the lifetime 
expected credit loss, grouped based on days overdue, and makes assumptions to allocate an overall expected credit loss rate for 
each group. These assumptions include recent sales experience and historical collection rates. 
  
GGooooddwwiillll  aanndd  ootthheerr  iinnddeeffiinniittee  lliiffee  iinnttaannggiibbllee  aasssseettss  
The Group tests annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate impairment, whether goodwill and other 
indefinite life intangible assets have suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 1. The 
recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require 
the use of assumptions, including estimated discount rates based on the current cost of capital and growth rates of the estimated 
future cash flows. Further information is detailed in Note 12. 
  
IInnccoommee  ttaaxx  
The Group is subject to income taxes in the jurisdictions in which it operates. Significant judgement is required in determining the 
provision for income tax. There are many transactions and calculations undertaken during the ordinary course of business for which 
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on the Group's 
current understanding of the tax law. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the carrying amounts, such 
differences will impact the current and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 
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RReeccoovveerryy  ooff  ddeeffeerrrreedd  ttaaxx  aasssseettss  
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences only if the Group considers it is probable that future taxable 
amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 

CCoonnttiinnggeenntt  ccoonnssiiddeerraattiioonn  
The contingent consideration liability is the difference between the total purchase consideration, usually on an acquisition of a 
business combination, and the amounts paid or settled up to the reporting date, discounted to net present value. The Group applies 
provisional accounting for any business combination. Any reassessment of the liability during the earlier of the finalisation of the 
provisional accounting or 12 months from acquisition-date is adjusted for retrospectively as part of the provisional accounting rules 
in accordance with AASB 3 'Business Combinations'. Thereafter, at each reporting date, the contingent consideration liability is 
reassessed against revised estimates and any increase or decrease in the net present value of the liability will result in a 
corresponding gain or loss to profit or loss. The increase in the liability resulting from the passage of time is recognised as a finance 
cost. 

BBuussiinneessss  ccoommbbiinnaattiioonnss  
As discussed in note 1, business combinations are initially accounted for on a provisional basis. The fair value of assets acquired, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed are initially estimated by the Group taking into consideration all available information at 
the reporting date. Fair value adjustments on the finalisation of the business combination accounting is retrospective, where 
applicable, to the period the combination occurred and may have an impact on the assets and liabilities, depreciation and amortisation 
reported. 

NNoottee  33..  OOppeerraattiinngg  sseeggmmeennttss  

IIddeennttiiffiiccaattiioonn  ooff  rreeppoorrttaabbllee  ooppeerraattiinngg  sseeggmmeennttss  
The Group has simplified its segment reporting for the financial year 2020. The Group's continuing operations are now organised 
into two operating segments: People and farmbuy.com. The Security segment, GlassandCo Pty Ltd and NTH Consulting Pty Ltd were 
divested during the reporting period and are therefore reported as Discontinued Operations. 

TTyyppeess  ooff  pprroodduuccttss  aanndd  sseerrvviicceess  
The principal products and services of each of these operating segments are as follows: 

People The People segment, comprising Systems and People Pty Ltd, Bexton IT Services Pty Ltd, Coroma Consulting 
Pty Ltd, Sacon Group Pty Ltd, Artisan Consulting Pty Ltd and Seisma Pty Ltd, is involved in sourcing and 
providing specialist consultants to customers for medium and long-term ICT projects. It is focused on 
reinventing and prototyping new capabilities and journeys as part of the program. 

farmbuy.com The farmbuy.com segment, comprising Respring Pty Ltd, provides digital advertising and marketing services 
to Australian agriculture and real estate companies. 

IInntteerrsseeggmmeenntt  ttrraannssaaccttiioonnss  
There were no material transactions between operating segments. 

IInntteerrsseeggmmeenntt  rreecceeiivvaabblleess,,  ppaayyaabblleess  aanndd  llooaannss  
Intersegment loans are initially recognised at the consideration received. Intersegment loans receivable and loans payable that earn 
or incur non-market interest are not adjusted to fair value based on market interest rates. Intersegment loans are eliminated on 
consolidation. 

RReevveennuuee  CCaatteeggoorriisseedd  
Revenue is generated by the group and is categorised into the reportable segments disclosed below. Sales to external customers 
are recognised when the performance obligations are delivered over time. Once a contract has been entered into, the Group has an 
enforceable right to payment for work completed to date. Therefore, revenue is recognised over time. 
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OOppeerraattiinngg sseeggmmeenntt iinnffoorrmmaattiioonn

People farmbuy.com Corporate
Discontinued 
Operations

Total
CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd GGrroouupp -- 22002200 $ $ $ $ $

RReevveennuuee
Sales to external customers 51,126,903 2,382 - 17,506,209 68,635,494
TToottaall rreevveennuuee 51,126,903 2,382 - 17,506,209 68,635,494

EEBBIITTDDAA 5,596,019 (21,153) (3,140,008) 245,188 2,680,046
Depreciation and amortisation (96,184) (112,573) (362,309) (156,882) (727,948)
Revaluation of investments - - 2,000,000 - 2,000,000
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations - - (829,023) - (829,023)
Interest revenue 1,725 - 2,988 463 5,176
Finance costs (10) - (1,056,357) (11,311) (1,067,678)
Deferred consideration adjustments - - 630,434 - 630,434
PPrrooffiitt//((lloossss)) bbeeffoorree iinnccoommee ttaaxx bbeenneeffiitt 5,501,550 (133,726) (2,754,275) 77,458 2,691,007
Income tax benefit 345,117
PPrrooffiitt aafftteerr iinnccoommee ttaaxx bbeenneeffiitt 3,036,124

AAsssseettss
Segment assets 6,959,988 1,523,249 36,941,027 - 45,424,264
TToottaall aasssseettss 45,424,264

LLiiaabbiilliittiieess
Segment liabilities 5,354,622 - 3,005,860 - 8,360,482
TToottaall lliiaabbiilliittiieess 8,360,482
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OOppeerraattiinngg  sseeggmmeenntt  iinnffoorrmmaattiioonn  

People farmbuy.com Corporate 
Discontinued 
Operations 

Total 
CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  --  22002200  $ $ $ $ $ 

RReevveennuuee  
Sales to external customers 51,126,903 2,382 - 17,506,209 68,635,494 
TToottaall  rreevveennuuee  51,126,903 2,382 - 17,506,209 68,635,494 

EEBBIITTDDAA  5,596,019 (21,153) (3,140,008) 245,188 2,680,046 
Depreciation and amortisation (96,184)  (112,573)  (362,309)  (156,882)  (727,948) 
Revaluation of investments - - 2,000,000 - 2,000,000
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations - - (829,023)  - (829,023)
Interest revenue 1,725 - 2,988 463 5,176 
Finance costs (10) - (1,056,357) (11,311)  (1,067,678) 
Deferred consideration adjustments - - 630,434 - 630,434
PPrrooffiitt//((lloossss))  bbeeffoorree  iinnccoommee  ttaaxx  bbeenneeffiitt  5,501,550 (133,726)  (2,754,275)  77,458 2,691,007 
Income tax benefit 345,117 
PPrrooffiitt  aafftteerr  iinnccoommee  ttaaxx  bbeenneeffiitt  3,036,124 

AAsssseettss  
Segment assets 6,959,988 1,523,249 36,941,027 - 45,424,264
TToottaall  aasssseettss  45,424,264 

LLiiaabbiilliittiieess  
Segment liabilities 5,354,622 - 3,005,860 - 8,360,482
TToottaall  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  8,360,482 
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People farmbuy.com Corporate 
Discontinued 
Operations* 

Total 
CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  --  22001199  $ $ $ $ $ 

RReevveennuuee  
Sales to external customers 53,602,211 - - 34,297,706 87,899,917 
TToottaall  rreevveennuuee  53,602,211 - - 34,297,706 87,899,917 

EEBBIITTDDAA  4,695,746 - (6,129,477) 3,820,964 2,387,233 
Depreciation and amortisation (40,710)  - (108,795) (252,588)  (402,093) 
Impairment of assets - - (49,629,677) - (49,629,677)
Loss on disposal of discontinued operation - - (3,360,521)  - (3,360,521)
Interest revenue 1,275 - 11,699 473 13,447 
Finance costs (981) - (1,044,642) (6,751)  (1,052,374) 
Deferred consideration adjustments - - (1,070,008) - (1,070,008)
PPrrooffiitt//((lloossss))  bbeeffoorree  iinnccoommee  ttaaxx  eexxppeennssee  4,655,330 - (61,331,421) 3,562,098 (53,113,993) 
Income tax expense (375,320) 
LLoossss  aafftteerr  iinnccoommee  ttaaxx  eexxppeennssee  (53,489,313) 

AAsssseettss  
Segment assets 9,859,958 - 50,523,815 8,150,573 68,534,346 
TToottaall  aasssseettss  68,534,346 

LLiiaabbiilliittiieess  
Segment liabilities 7,458,090 - 22,271,239 5,361,506 35,090,835 
TToottaall  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  35,090,835 

* The 2019 numbers have been restated to include the divestments from 2020

RReevveennuuee  bbyy  ggeeooggrraapphhiiccaall  aarreeaa  
There are no material sales to external customers outside of Australia. 
There are no material holdings of non-current assets outside of Australia. 

NNoottee  44..  RReevveennuuee  

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
22002200  22001199  

$$  $$  

FFrroomm  ccoonnttiinnuuiinngg  ooppeerraattiioonnss  

Revenue from contracts with customers 
Sale of services 51,129,285 53,590,254 

Other revenue 
Other revenue - 11,957

Revenue from continuing operations 51,129,285 53,602,211 
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DDiissaaggggrreeggaattiioonn  ooff  rreevveennuuee  
The disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers is as follows: 

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
22002200  22001199  

$$  $$  

Major sales/service lines 
Contractor Management 6,256,441 3,492,277 
Consulting Revenue 44,872,844 50,097,977 

51,129,285 53,590,254 

Geographical regions 
Australia 51,129,285 53,590,254 

Timing of revenue recognition 
Services transferred over time 51,129,285 53,590,254 

NNoottee  55..  OOtthheerr  iinnccoommee  

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
22002200  22001199  

$$  $$  

Revaluation of investments 2,000,000 -  
Subsidies and grants 724,500 -  
Interest income 4,713 12,975 
Contingent consideration adjustments 630,434 -  

Other income 3,359,647 12,975 

The revaluation of investment revenue arose from the shares received from Tesserent Limited as part of the consideration payment 
for the sale of the Security business.  

Subsidies and grants reflect payments under the Australian Government JobKeeper Scheme. 

The contingent consideration adjustments arise from a review of amounts due for earn-out purposes under the share purchase and 
sale agreements. 
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NNoottee  66..  DDeepprreecciiaattiioonn  aanndd  AAmmoorrttiissaattiioonn  

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
22002200  22001199  

$$  $$  

Profit/(loss) before income tax from continuing operations includes the following specific expenses: 

Depreciation 
Property, plant and equipment 136,740 149,505 

Amortisation 
Right of use asset 321,751 -  
Intangibles 112,573 -  

Total amortisation 434,324 -  

Total depreciation and amortisation 571,064 149,505 
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NNoottee  77..  IInnccoommee  ttaaxx  eexxppeennssee//((bbeenneeffiitt))  

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
22002200  22001199  

$$  $$  

Income tax expense/(benefit) 
Current tax (1,047,876)  422,662 
Deferred tax - origination and reversal of temporary differences 702,759 (47,342) 

Aggregate income tax expense/(benefit) (345,117)  375,320 

Income tax expense/(benefit) is attributable to: 
Profit/(loss) from continuing operations (360,343) (680,634) 
Profit/(loss) from discontinued operations 15,226 1,055,954 

Aggregate income tax expense/(benefit) (345,117)  375,320 

Deferred tax included in income tax expense/(benefit) comprises: 
Decrease/(increase) in deferred tax assets (note 16) 635,721 (47,342) 
Increase in deferred tax liabilities (note 25) 67,038 -  

Deferred tax - origination and reversal of temporary differences 702,759 (47,342) 

Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense/(benefit) and tax at the statutory rate 
Profit/(loss) before income tax benefit from continuing operations 3,442,572 (53,315,569) 
Profit/(loss) before income tax expense from discontinued operations (751,565) 201,577 

2,691,007 (53,113,992) 

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 30% 807,302 (15,934,198) 

Tax effect amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating taxable income: 
Amortisation of operating leases 122,016 -  
Impairment of assets - 14,888,903
Share-based payments (19,031)  -  
Non-taxable contingent consideration adjustments (189,130)  -  
Non-deductible expenses/(non-assessable income) (580,802) 539,357 
Loss on sale of subsidiary 248,707 798,550 
Inter-company debt forgiven - 595,899
Revaluation of investments (600,000)  -  

(210,938)  888,511 
Current year tax losses not recognised - (9,984)
Prior year tax losses not recognised now recouped (149,405) (212,824)
Income tax expense reported as discontinued operations 15,226 (290,383)

Income tax expense/(benefit) (345,117)  375,320 
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NNoottee  88..  DDiissccoonnttiinnuueedd  ooppeerraattiioonnss  

DDeessccrriippttiioonn  
CCuurrrreenntt  PPeerriioodd 
On the 10 December 2019, the Group announced that it had successfully divested the Security business to Tesserent Limited 
('Tesserent'). Tesserent provides full service, enterprise-grade cyber security and networking solutions targeted at mid-market 
customers in Australia and internationally in the UK and Korea. Their Cyber 360 strategy delivers integrated solutions covering 
identification, protection and monitoring against cyber security threats. 

On the 31 January 2020, the Group announced that it had successfully divested its wholly owned subsidiary, GlassandCo Pty Ltd 
('Glass') to Vitrics Pty Ltd ('Vitrics'). Vitrics is a company controlled by: 

- Glenn Fielding, the former CEO of the Company and a former Non-Executive Director of the Company;
- Jeffrey Bennett, the former CFO and former Company Secretary;
- Erin Brown, Sales Director of Glass; and
- Wayne Custodio, Practice Director of Glass.

On the 26 March 2020, the Group announced the successful completion of the sale of its wholly owned subsidiary, NTH Consulting 
Pty Ltd to TNT Cyber Services Pty Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of Tesserent. 

PPrriioorr  PPeerriioodd 
On the 22 November 2018, the Group announced that it had successfully divested the Allcom Networks business to Crosspoint 
Telecommunications Pty Ltd, a business technology solutions provider offering comprehensive end-to-end managed IT solutions in 
voice, video, managed IT services and professional services. The decision to divest the Allcom Networks business was based on the 
Group's view that the business was not cohesively aligned to its core strategy. The Group is fundamentally an information technology 
services business delivering specialised services to its clients.  

As a result of the sale transactions outlined above, the financial result of the business to be divested and associated group 
reclassification and consolidation impacts are treated as discontinued operations from a financial reporting perspective in the current 
and prior year.  

Details of the financial performance, cash flows and the carrying value of the assets and liabilities of the discontinued operations are 
shown below. 
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FFiinnaanncciiaall  ppeerrffoorrmmaannccee  iinnffoorrmmaattiioonn  

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
22002200  22001199  

$$  $$  

Revenue from discontinued operations 17,506,209 34,297,706 

Interest income 463 473 
Other income from discontinued operations 10,575 138,012 
Total other income 11,038 138,485 

Operating expenses from discontinued operations (17,271,596) (30,614,754) 
Depreciation and amortisation expense from discontinued operations (156,882)  (252,588) 
Finance costs (11,311)  (6,751) 
Total expenses (17,439,789)  (30,874,093) 

Profit before income tax expense 77,458 3,562,098 
Income tax expense (15,226)  (1,055,955) 

Profit after income tax expense 62,232 2,506,143 

Loss on disposal before income tax (829,023)  (3,360,521) 
Income tax expense -  -  

Loss on disposal after income tax expense (829,023)  (3,360,521) 

Loss after income tax expense from discontinued operations (766,791) (854,378) 

CCaasshh  ffllooww  iinnffoorrmmaattiioonn  

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
22002200  22001199  

$$  $$  

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities (394,191)  58,901 
Net cash used in investing activities - (4,381)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents from discontinued operations (394,191)  54,520 
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CCaarrrryyiinngg  aammoouunnttss  ooff  aasssseettss  aanndd  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  ddiissppoosseedd  

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
22002200  22001199  

$$  $$  

Cash and cash equivalents 143,164 178,193 
Trade and other receivables 6,251,619 2,342,040 
Inventories - 18,414
Other current assets 201,046 706,581
Property, plant and equipment 348,529 552,874
Other non-current assets 1,256,550 296,837
Total assets 8,200,908 4,094,939 

Trade and other payables 3,780,392 3,166,861 
Provisions 856,351 740,102 
Other liabilities 755,869 721,176 
Total liabilities 5,392,612 4,628,139 

Net assets/(liabilities) 2,808,296 (533,200) 

DDeettaaiillss  ooff  tthhee  ddiissppoossaall  

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
22002200  22001199  

$$  $$  

Total sale consideration 20,908,844 3,200,000 
Carrying amount of net assets/(liabilities) disposed (2,808,296)  533,200 
Working capital adjustment 62,661 (2,109,484) 
Derecognition of investment in discontinued operations (18,992,232)  (4,722,201) 
Subsequent adjustments - (262,036)

Loss on disposal before income tax (829,023) (3,360,521) 

Loss on disposal after income tax (829,023)  (3,360,521) 

Total sale consideration includes: 
- Cash received during the financial year of $9,488,437 (net of the GlassandCo working capital adjustment)
- Cash receivable at the end of the financial year of $1,674,223 (net of working capital adjustments for Security and NTH Consulting)
- Shares in Tesserent Limited of $5,000,000 (on issue date)
- Cash and share payments to the original founders of NTH Consulting Pty Ltd of $4,808,845

NNoottee  99..  CCuurrrreenntt  aasssseettss::  CCaasshh  aanndd  ccaasshh  eeqquuiivvaalleennttss  

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
22002200  22001199  

$$  $$  

Cash on hand 27 1,328 
Cash at bank 1,477,477 4,284,272 

1,477,504 4,285,600 
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NNoottee  1100..  CCuurrrreenntt  aasssseettss::  TTrraaddee  aanndd  ootthheerr  rreecceeiivvaabblleess  

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
22002200  22001199  

$$  $$  

Trade receivables 4,373,622 12,918,295 
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (145,021) (253,014) 

4,228,601 12,665,281 

Receivable from Scottish Pacific 926,258 -  

Other receivables 1,911,582 2,803 
GST receivable 25,514 92,110 

7,091,955 12,760,194 

In July 2019, the Group entered into an agreement with Scottish Pacific Business Finance Pty Ltd ('Scottish Pacific') to provide a 
receivables backed financing facility. The facility became available on 9 July 2019. As at 30 June 2020, the facility was in a credit 
position meaning the Group was owed money by Scottish Pacific as there was a greater number of debtor payments received into 
the facility than what was actually funded. 

Other receivables includes $1,674,223 due from Tesserent Limited paid in July 2020. This amount represents the final consideration 
payment for the purchase of the Security business ($1,000,000) as well as the working capital adjustments for both the Security 
and NTH Consulting sales ($674,223). 

Other receivables also includes the June 2020 JobKeeper subsidy of $237,000. 

AAlllloowwaannccee  ffoorr  eexxppeecctteedd  ccrreeddiitt  lloosssseess  
The Group has recognised a credit of $87,293 in the profit or loss in respect of impairment of receivables for the year ended 30 June 
2020 (2019: $226,376 loss). 

The ageing of the receivables and allowance for expected credit losses provided for above are as follows: 

EExxppeecctteedd  ccrreeddiitt  lloossss  rraattee  CCaarrrryyiinngg  aammoouunntt  
AAlllloowwaannccee  ffoorr  eexxppeecctteedd  

ccrreeddiitt  lloosssseess  
22002200  22001199  22002200  22001199  22002200  22001199  

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  %%  %%  $$  $$  $$  $$  

Not overdue 1.00% - 3,328,402 9,059,853 33,284 - 
30 to 60 days overdue 6.00% 2.00% 737,767 2,422,748 44,266 48,455 
60 to 90 days overdue 11.90% 9.00% 136,924 791,681 16,294 71,251 
90+ days overdue 30.01% 20.70% 170,529 644,013 51,176 133,308 

4,373,622 12,918,295 145,020 253,014 

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing ranging from 30 to 90 day terms. An impairment loss is recognised based on an expected 
credit loss model. The consolidated entity assesses the expected credit loss based on individual debtor level expectations relative to 
credit terms. The consolidated entity assesses the expected credit loss based on individual debtor level expectations relative to credit 
terms. 
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Movements in the allowance for expected credit losses are as follows: 

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
22002200  22001199  

$$  $$  

Opening balance 253,014 26,638 
Additional provisions recognised - 237,014
Disposals (20,700) -  
Unused amounts reversed (87,293)  (10,638) 

Closing balance 145,021 253,014 

NNoottee  1111..  CCuurrrreenntt  aasssseettss::  IInnccoommee  ttaaxx  rreeffuunndd  dduuee  

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
22002200  22001199  

$$  $$  

Income tax refund due 359,062 -  

NNoottee  1122..  CCuurrrreenntt  aasssseettss::  OOtthheerr  

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
22002200  22001199  

$$  $$  

Accrued revenue 2,015,258 1,243,623 
Prepayments 120,116 628,821 
Security deposits 34,622 43,476 
Other current assets - 504,724

2,169,996 2,420,644 
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NNoottee  1133..  NNoonn--ccuurrrreenntt  aasssseettss::  PPrrooppeerrttyy,,  ppllaanntt  aanndd  eeqquuiippmmeenntt  

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
22002200  22001199  

$$  $$  

Leasehold improvements - at cost 168,987 676,242 
Less: Accumulated depreciation (83,906) (251,229) 

85,081 425,013 

Fixtures and fittings - at cost - 22,580
Less: Accumulated depreciation - (20,939)

- 1,641

Motor vehicles - at cost - 45,828
Less: Accumulated depreciation - (42,058)

- 3,770

Computer equipment - at cost 145,239 175,990 
Less: Accumulated depreciation (117,255)  (141,785) 

27,984 34,205 

Office equipment - at cost 252,646 633,334 
Less: Accumulated depreciation (189,669) (413,001) 

62,977 220,333 

Computer software - at cost 192,932 -  
Less: Accumulated depreciation (129,274)  -  

63,658 -  

239,700 684,962 
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RReeccoonncciilliiaattiioonnss  
Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out below: 

Leasehold Fixtures & Computer Office  Motor  Computer 
 Improvem

ents  Fittings Equipment   Equipment Vehicles Software Total* 
CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  $ $ $ $ $  $ $ 

Balance at 1 July 2018 388,033 62,196 573,091 303,718 44,819 - 1,371,857
Additions 159,356 1,665 34,666 153,117 - - 348,804
Disposals - (58,928) (526,249)  (77,785)  (34,372)  - (697,334)
Write off of assets - - - (295) - - (295) 
Transfers in/(out) - net of 
accumulated depreciation 11,023 - (4,755) (6,268) - - - 
Depreciation expense (133,399) (3,292) (42,548) (152,154) (6,677) - (338,070)

Balance at 30 June 2019 425,013 1,641 34,205 220,333 3,770 - 684,962
Additions - - 13,255 - - 78,789 92,044
Additions through business 
combinations (note 44) - - 472 - - - 472 
Disposals (22,678)  - (4,800) (25,031)  - - (52,509) 
Disposals from discontinued 
operations (254,103) (1,641) (23,483) (65,532) (3,770) - (348,529)
Transfers in/(out) - net of 
accumulated depreciation (28,502) - 35,462 (23,187) - 16,227 - 
Depreciation expense (34,649)  - (27,127) (43,606)  - (31,358) (136,740) 

Balance at 30 June 2020 85,081 - 27,984 62,977 - 63,658 239,700 

*The 30 June 2019 movements table has not been restated for the additional discontinued operations from this year

NNoottee  1144..  NNoonn--ccuurrrreenntt  aasssseettss::  RRiigghhtt--ooff--uussee  aasssseettss  

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
22002200  22001199  

$$  $$  

Leases 1,409,750 -  
Less: Accumulated depreciation (321,751)  -  

1,087,999 -  

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year were $1,991,964. 

The Group leases land and buildings for its offices under agreements of five years with, in some cases, options to extend. The leases 
have various escalation clauses. On renewal, the terms of the leases are renegotiated. 
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RReeccoonncciilliiaattiioonnss  
Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out below: 

Leases 
Total 

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  $ $ 

Balance at 1 July 2018 - - 

Balance at 30 June 2019 - - 
Additions 1,991,964 1,991,964 
Disposals (582,214)  (582,214) 
Amortisation expense (321,751) (321,751) 

Balance at 30 June 2020 1,087,999 1,087,999 

NNoottee  1155..  NNoonn--ccuurrrreenntt  aasssseettss::  IInnttaannggiibblleess  

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
22002200  22001199  

$$  $$  

Goodwill - at cost 31,513,669 47,256,427 

Development - at cost 155,390 -  

Website - at cost 1,350,880 -  
Less: Accumulated amortisation (112,573)  -  

1,238,307 -  

Intellectual property - at cost 10,000 -  

Patents and trademarks - at cost 80,682 -  

32,998,048 47,256,427 

PPSS&&CC LLttdd
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RReeccoonncciilliiaattiioonnss
Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out below:

Leasehold Fixtures & Computer Office Motor Computer
Improvem

ents Fittings Equipment Equipment Vehicles Software Total*
CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd GGrroouupp $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2018 388,033 62,196 573,091 303,718 44,819 - 1,371,857
Additions 159,356 1,665 34,666 153,117 - - 348,804
Disposals - (58,928) (526,249) (77,785) (34,372) - (697,334)
Write off of assets - - - (295) - - (295)
Transfers in/(out) - net of 
accumulated depreciation 11,023 - (4,755) (6,268) - - -
Depreciation expense (133,399) (3,292) (42,548) (152,154) (6,677) - (338,070)

Balance at 30 June 2019 425,013 1,641 34,205 220,333 3,770 - 684,962
Additions - - 13,255 - - 78,789 92,044
Additions through business
combinations (note 44) - - 472 - - - 472
Disposals (22,678) - (4,800) (25,031) - - (52,509)
Disposals from discontinued 
operations (254,103) (1,641) (23,483) (65,532) (3,770) - (348,529)
Transfers in/(out) - net of 
accumulated depreciation (28,502) - 35,462 (23,187) - 16,227 -
Depreciation expense (34,649) - (27,127) (43,606) - (31,358) (136,740)

Balance at 30 June 2020 85,081 - 27,984 62,977 - 63,658 239,700

*The 30 June 2019 movements table has not been restated for the additional discontinued operations from this year

NNoottee 1144.. NNoonn--ccuurrrreenntt aasssseettss:: RRiigghhtt--ooff--uussee aasssseettss

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd GGrroouupp
22002200 22001199

$$ $$

Leases 1,409,750 -
Less: Accumulated depreciation (321,751) -

1,087,999 -

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year were $1,991,964.

The Group leases land and buildings for its offices under agreements of five years with, in some cases, options to extend. The leases
have various escalation clauses. On renewal, the terms of the leases are renegotiated.
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RReeccoonncciilliiaattiioonnss  
Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current financial period are set out below: 

 Goodwill Website Trademarks 
 Intellectual 

Property 
 Developmen

t 
 

Total 
CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Balance at 1 July 2018 100,046,002 - - - - 100,046,002 
Additions through business 
combinations (note 44) 1,562,756 - - - - 1,562,756 
Disposals (4,722,200)  - - - - (4,722,200) 
Impairment of assets (49,629,677) - - - - (49,629,677) 
Write off of assets (454) - - - - (454) 

Balance at 30 June 2019 47,256,427 - - - - 47,256,427 
Additions - - - - 132,209 132,209 
Additions through business 
combinations (note 44) 3,249,020 1,350,880 80,682 10,000 23,181 4,713,763 
Disposals (18,992,232)  - - - - (18,992,232) 
Adjustment 454 - - - - 454 
Amortisation expense - (112,573) - - - (112,573) 

Balance at 30 June 2020 31,513,669 1,238,307 80,682 10,000 155,390 32,998,048 

IImmppaaiirrmmeenntt  tteessttiinngg  ffoorr  ggooooddwwiillll  
For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the consolidated entity's cash-generating units (CGU's) as follows: 

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
22002200  22001199  

$$  $$  

People 28,264,649 31,246,992 
farmbuy.com 3,249,020 -  
Security - 16,009,435

Total 31,513,669 47,256,427 

The Group undertakes impairment testing of the relevant businesses as required. Impairment testing was performed at 30 June 
2020 to support the carrying value of goodwill for the People CGU. The recoverable amount was based on its value in use, determined 
by discounting future cash flows to be generated from the continuing use of the business. Management's determination of cash flow 
projections and gross margins are based on past performance and its expectation for the future. The present value of future cash 
flows has been calculated using projected cash flows approved by the Board covering year 1 with an EBIT growth rate for year 1 of 
4%, growth for years 2-5 is 2.5%. The present value of future cash flows for years 2 to 5 have been calculated using a terminal 
growth rate of 1.5% (2019: 1.5%) and a discount rate of 19.5% (2019 19.5%) has been used to determine value in use. 

The goodwill of $3,249,020 for the farmbuy.com CGU represents the amount of consideration paid for the business acquisition less 
fair value of net assets, plus additional amounts paid for performance, both current and implied by forecasts. 

The Directors are still assessing any potential impacts to the total consideration transferred whilst within the measurement period. 

The estimated recoverable amount exceeded the carrying value for each CGU by the following amounts: 
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CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
22002200  22001199  

$$  $$  

People 2,167,502 -  

IImmppaaiirrmmeenntt  
The Board of Directors has taken a conservative approach to the Group's impairment valuations in line with the approach taken at 31 
December 2019. This approach has involved a review of the Group’s methodology and has resulted in an increased allocation of 
corporate costs to the CGU at 30 June 2020. 

Impact of a Reasonably Possible Change in Key Assumptions: 

Any adverse movement in a key assumption would lead to a reduction in the estimated recoverable amount exceeding the carrying 
value for the People CGU. For example, a 1% reduction in growth rates would cause a reduction of $813,788 to $1,353,714. 

NNoottee  1166..  NNoonn--ccuurrrreenntt  aasssseettss::  DDeeffeerrrreedd  ttaaxx  

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
22002200  22001199  

$$  $$  

Deferred tax asset comprises temporary differences attributable to: 

Amounts recognised in profit or loss: 
Allowance for expected credit losses - 12,210
Employee benefits - 570,829
Expenses deductible over five years - 116,583
Accrued expenses - 387,314
Franking deficit tax - 39,583

Deferred tax asset - 1,126,519

Movements: 
Opening balance 1,126,519 1,079,177 
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss (note 7) (635,721)  47,342 
Disposals (490,798)  -  

Closing balance - 1,126,519
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NNoottee  1177..  CCuurrrreenntt  lliiaabbiilliittiieess::  TTrraaddee  aanndd  ootthheerr  ppaayyaabblleess  
  
   CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
   22002200   22001199  
   $$   $$  
        
Trade payables  364,145   5,747,365  
GST payable  292,360   1,165,163  
Other payables  1,608,478   2,537,985  
     
  2,264,983   9,450,513  

  
Refer to note 37 for further information on financial instruments. 
  

NNoottee  1188..  CCuurrrreenntt  lliiaabbiilliittiieess::  BBoorrrroowwiinnggss  
  
   CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
   22002200   22001199  
   $$   $$  
        
Bank loans  -    10,300,000  

  
Refer to note 37 for further information on financial instruments. 
  
The Group repaid all outstanding borrowings to the ANZ bank ('the Lender') during the financial year. The remaining facilities i.e. 
Credit Cards, Indemnity/Guarantees and Electronic Payaway of the Group have been extended to the 30 December 2020. 
  
TToottaall  sseeccuurreedd  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  
The total secured current liabilities are as follows: 
  
   CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
   22002200   22001199  
   $$   $$  
        
Bank loans  -    10,300,000  
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FFiinnaanncciinngg  aarrrraannggeemmeennttss  
Unrestricted access was available at the reporting date to the following lines of credit: 
  
   CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
   22002200   22001199  
   $$   $$  
        
Total facilities     

Bank Loans  -    10,300,000  
Credit Card Facility  150,000   325,000  
Indemnity/Guarantee Facilities  388,500   500,000  
Electronic Payaway Facility  500,000   500,000  
  1,038,500   11,625,000  

     
Used at the reporting date     

Bank Loans  -    10,300,000  
Credit Card Facility  5,286   79,230  
Indemnity/Guarantee Facilities  388,219   459,954  
Electronic Payaway Facility  -    -   
  393,505   10,839,184  

     
Unused at the reporting date     

Bank Loans  -    -   
Credit Card Facility  144,714   245,770  
Indemnity/Guarantee Facilities  281   40,046  
Electronic Payaway Facility  500,000   500,000  
  644,995   785,816  

  
There is a corporate cross-deed of guarantee between the parent company and all subsidiaries ("General Security Agreement") which 
is secured by all present and after-acquired property. 
  

NNoottee  1199..  CCuurrrreenntt  lliiaabbiilliittiieess::  LLeeaassee  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  
  
   CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
   22002200   22001199  
   $$   $$  
        
Lease liability  529,483   -   

  
Refer to note 37 for further information on financial instruments. 
  

NNoottee  2200..  CCuurrrreenntt  lliiaabbiilliittiieess::  IInnccoommee  ttaaxx  
  
   CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
   22002200   22001199  
   $$   $$  
        
Provision for income tax  -    615,455  
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NNoottee  2211..  CCuurrrreenntt  lliiaabbiilliittiieess::  EEmmppllooyyeeee  bbeenneeffiittss  
  
   CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
   22002200   22001199  
   $$   $$  
        
Annual leave  189,332   785,327  
Long service leave  -    117,499  
     
  189,332   902,826  

  

NNoottee  2222..  CCuurrrreenntt  lliiaabbiilliittiieess::  DDeeffeerrrreedd  ccoonnssiiddeerraattiioonn  
  
   CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
   22002200   22001199  
   $$   $$  
        
Deferred consideration  524,167   7,108,502  

  
The deferred consideration represents the obligation to pay consideration following the acquisition of a business or assets. It is 
measured at the present value of the estimated liability. 
  

NNoottee  2233..  CCuurrrreenntt  lliiaabbiilliittiieess::  OOtthheerr  
  
   CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
   22002200   22001199  
   $$   $$  
        
Other payables  -    24,004  
Accrued expenses  3,361,093   3,538,162  
Revenue received in advance  -    231,759  
Other current liabilities  730,571   20,808  
     
  4,091,664   3,814,733  

  

NNoottee  2244..  NNoonn--ccuurrrreenntt  lliiaabbiilliittiieess::  BBoorrrroowwiinnggss  
  
   CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
   22002200   22001199  
   $$   $$  
        
Convertible notes payable  -    78,370  

  
Refer to note 37 for further information on financial instruments. 
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NNoottee  2255..  NNoonn--ccuurrrreenntt  lliiaabbiilliittiieess::  DDeeffeerrrreedd  ttaaxx  

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
22002200  22001199  

$$  $$  

Deferred tax liability comprises temporary differences attributable to: 

Amounts recognised in profit or loss: 
Accrued expenses (123,276)  -  
Lease liabilities 13,146 -  
Trade debtors (46,056)  -  
Accrued Revenue 604,577 -  
Prepayments 25,321 -  
Expenses deductible over five years (150,296)  -  
Employee benefits (256,378)  -  

Deferred tax liability 67,038 -  

Movements: 
Opening balance -  -  
Charged to profit or loss (note 7) 67,038 -  

Closing balance 67,038 -  

NNoottee  2266..  NNoonn--ccuurrrreenntt  lliiaabbiilliittiieess::  LLeeaassee  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
22002200  22001199  

$$  $$  

Lease liability 421,965 -  

Refer to note 37 for further information on financial instruments. 

NNoottee  2277..  NNoonn--ccuurrrreenntt  lliiaabbiilliittiieess::  EEmmppllooyyeeee  bbeenneeffiittss  

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
22002200  22001199  

$$  $$  

Long service leave 60,867 194,707 

NNoottee  2288..  NNoonn--ccuurrrreenntt  lliiaabbiilliittiieess::  CCoonnttiinnggeenntt  ccoonnssiiddeerraattiioonn  

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
22002200  22001199  

$$  $$  

Contingent consideration - 1,630,434
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CCoonnttiinnggeenntt  ccoonnssiiddeerraattiioonn  
The provision represents the obligation to pay contingent consideration following the acquisition of a business or assets, the majority 
of which may be satisfied by way of an issue of shares in PS&C Ltd. It is measured at the present value of the estimated liability. The 
contingent consideration liability is reassessed at each reporting date against revised estimates and any increase or decrease in the 
net present value of the liability will result in a corresponding gain or loss to profit or loss.  
  
MMoovveemmeennttss  iinn  pprroovviissiioonnss  
Movements in each class of provision during the current financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below: 
  
   Contingent 

  
  Consideratio

n 
CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  --  22002200   $ 
    
Carrying amount at the start of the year  1,630,434 
Disposed of as part of discontinued operations  (1,630,434) 
   
Carrying amount at the end of the year  - 

  

NNoottee  2299..  NNoonn--ccuurrrreenntt  lliiaabbiilliittiieess::  DDeeffeerrrreedd  ccoonnssiiddeerraattiioonn  
  
   CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
   22002200   22001199  
   $$   $$  
        
Deferred consideration  144,790   995,295  

  
Deferred consideration represents the obligation to pay outstanding consideration following the acquisition of a business or assets. 
It is measured at the present value of the estimated liability. 
  

NNoottee  3300..  NNoonn--ccuurrrreenntt  lliiaabbiilliittiieess::  OOtthheerr  
  
   CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
   22002200   22001199  
   $$   $$  
        
Other non-current liabilities  66,193   -   

  
Lease make good 
The provision represents the present value of the estimated costs to make good the premises leased by the Group at the end of the 
respective lease terms. 
  

NNoottee  3311..  EEqquuiittyy::  IIssssuueedd  ccaappiittaall  
  
   CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
   22002200   22001199   22002200   22001199  
   SShhaarreess   SShhaarreess   $$   $$  
              
Ordinary shares - fully paid  501,103,515  250,116,958  90,354,877   91,207,294  
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CCoonnttiinnggeenntt ccoonnssiiddeerraattiioonn
The provision represents the obligation to pay contingent consideration following the acquisition of a business or assets, the majority 
of which may be satisfied by way of an issue of shares in PS&C Ltd. It is measured at the present value of the estimated liability. The 
contingent consideration liability is reassessed at each reporting date against revised estimates and any increase or decrease in the
net present value of the liability will result in a corresponding gain or loss to profit or loss.

MMoovveemmeennttss iinn pprroovviissiioonnss
Movements in each class of provision during the current financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below:

Contingent
Consideratio

n
CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd GGrroouupp -- 22002200 $

Carrying amount at the start of the year 1,630,434
Disposed of as part of discontinued operations (1,630,434)

Carrying amount at the end of the year -

NNoottee 2299.. NNoonn--ccuurrrreenntt lliiaabbiilliittiieess:: DDeeffeerrrreedd ccoonnssiiddeerraattiioonn

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd GGrroouupp
22002200 22001199

$$ $$

Deferred consideration 144,790 995,295 

Deferred consideration represents the obligation to pay outstanding consideration following the acquisition of a business or assets.
It is measured at the present value of the estimated liability.

NNoottee 3300.. NNoonn--ccuurrrreenntt lliiaabbiilliittiieess:: OOtthheerr

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd GGrroouupp
22002200 22001199

$$ $$

Other non-current liabilities 66,193 -

Lease make good
The provision represents the present value of the estimated costs to make good the premises leased by the Group at the end of the
respective lease terms.

NNoottee 3311.. EEqquuiittyy:: IIssssuueedd ccaappiittaall

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd GGrroouupp
22002200 22001199 22002200 22001199

SShhaarreess SShhaarreess $$ $$

Ordinary shares - fully paid 501,103,515 250,116,958 90,354,877 91,207,294 
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MMoovveemmeennttss  iinn  oorrddiinnaarryy  sshhaarree  ccaappiittaall  

DDeettaaiillss   DDaattee  SShhaarreess  IIssssuuee  pprriiccee  $$  

Balance  1 July 2018 204,245,421 85,029,409 
Issue of shares in satisfaction of Earn out Payments to Bexton 17 October 2018 15,407,882 $0.15 2,341,996 
Issue of shares in satisfaction of Earn out Payments to Sacon  17 October 2018 19,177,632 $0.15 2,915,000 
Issue of shares for Performance Rights  17 October 2018 4,309,592 $0.00 - 
Issue of shares on Acquisition of Artisan   20 February 2019 6,976,431 $0.13 920,889 

Balance 30 June 2019 250,116,958 91,207,294 
Issue of shares for Performance Rights  14 August 2019 1,843,095 $0.00 - 
Issue of shares for Rights Issue Placement 19 November 2019 19,790,495 $0.04 791,620 
Rights Issue Placement Costs  19 November 2019 - $0.00 (33,144) 
Issue of shares for the completion of the Seisma Acquisition 3 December 2019 18,750,000 $0.04 750,000 
Issue of shares for the Employee Incentive Plan  12 December 2019 15,156,778 $0.00 - 
Issue of shares for Rights Issue Shortfall 21 January 2020 43,446,189 $0.04 1,737,848 
Rights Issue Placement Costs  21 January 2020 - $0.00 (98,741) 
Issue of shares to Hennessey Capital in satisfaction of 
consulting fees 21 January 2020 2,000,000 $0.00 - 
In-specie Distribution  22 January 2020 - $0.00 (8,500,000) 
Issue of shares on acquisition of Respring  1 April 2020 150,000,000 $0.03 4,500,000 

Balance 30 June 2020 501,103,515 90,354,877 

Capital is regarded as total equity, as recognised in the statement of financial position, plus net debt. Net debt is calculated as total 
borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. 

NNoottee  3322..  EEqquuiittyy::  RReesseerrvveess  

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
22002200  22001199  

$$  $$  

Revaluation surplus reserve 1,500,000 -  
Employee share options/Performance rights reserve 760 593,769 

1,500,760 593,769 

RReevvaalluuaattiioonn  ssuurrpplluuss  rreesseerrvvee  
The reserve is used to recognise increments and decrements in the fair value of investments. The increment in this financial year 
relates to the Tesserent shares that formed part of the Security sale consideration. The $1,500,000 represents the revaluation of 
the shares on the record date of the in-specie distribution to shareholders. 

EEmmppllooyyeeee  sshhaarree  ooppttiioonnss//PPeerrffoorrmmaannccee  rriigghhttss  rreesseerrvvee  
This reserve is used to recognise options and performance rights granted to Directors and employees under the PS&C Directors and 
Employee Benefits Plan. Further information on the operation of this plan is outlined in the Directors' Report. 
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MMoovveemmeennttss  iinn  rreesseerrvveess  
Movements in each class of reserve during the current and previous financial year are set out below: 

  Employee 
share option/ 

 
Revaluation 

 performance 
rights 

reserve 

 

reserve Total 
CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  $ $ $ 

Balance at 1 July 2018 818,803 - 818,803
Options granted 5,829 - 5,829
Performance Rights  (230,863) - (230,863)

Balance at 30 June 2019 593,769 - 593,769
Revaluation - gross (64,429) 1,500,000 1,435,571
Options granted 993 - 993
Expired Performance Rights (496,497) - (496,497)
Expired Options (33,076)  - (33,076)

Balance at 30 June 2020 760 1,500,000 1,500,760 

Options on issue 30 June 2020: 

Issue Expiry date Exercise
price 

Opening 
01/07/2019 Issued Exercised Lapsed Closing 

30/06/2020 
Issue to employees #2 30/10/2021 $1.09 80,000 - - (80,000) - 
Issue to employees #3 14/12/2022 $0.39 660,000 - -   (620,000) 40,000 

TOTAL 740,000 - -   (700,000) 40,000 

Options on issue 30 June 2019: 

Issue Expiry date Exercise 
price 

Opening 
01/07/2018 Issued Exercised Lapsed Closing 

30/06/2019 
Issue to employees #2 30/10/2021 $1.09 705,000 - - (625,000) 80,000 
Issue to employees #3 14/12/2022 $0.39 960,000 - -   (300,000) 660,000 
Issue to key management 
personnel #3 14/12/2022 $0.39 400,000 - - (400,000) - 

TOTAL 2,065,000 - -   (1,325,000) 740,000 
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NNoottee  3333..  EEqquuiittyy::  AAccccuummuullaatteedd  lloosssseess  
  
   CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
   22002200   22001199  
   $$   $$  
        
Accumulated losses at the beginning of the financial year  (58,357,552)  (4,868,239) 
Profit/(loss) after income tax (expense)/benefit for the year  3,036,124   (53,489,313) 
Transfer from options/performance rights reserve  529,573   -   
     
Accumulated losses at the end of the financial year  (54,791,855)  (58,357,552) 

  

NNoottee  3344..  EEqquuiittyy::  DDiivviiddeennddss  
  
DDiivviiddeennddss  
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial year. 
  
FFrraannkkiinngg  ccrreeddiittss  
  
   CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
   22002200   22001199  
   $$   $$  
        
Franking credits available at the reporting date based on a tax rate of 30%  7,627,521   7,428,933  
     
Franking credits available for subsequent financial years based on a tax rate of 30%  7,627,521   7,428,933  
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NNoottee  3355..  RReeccoonncciilliiaattiioonn  ooff  pprrooffiitt//((lloossss))  aafftteerr  iinnccoommee  ttaaxx  ttoo  nneett  ccaasshh  ffrroomm//((uusseedd  iinn))  ooppeerraattiinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess  

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
22002200  22001199  

$$  $$  

Profit/(loss) after income tax (expense)/benefit for the year 3,036,124 (53,489,313) 

Adjustments for: 
Depreciation and amortisation 571,064 402,093 
Impairment - 49,629,677
Net loss on disposal of non-current assets 829,023 3,360,521
Revenue - non-cash - 136,707
Interest received - non-cash 5,176 13,447
Other revenue - non-cash (2,000,000)  (150,154)
Other expenses - non-cash 6,953,506 4,199,177
Finance costs - non-cash    (6,633) 190,124 
Contingent consideration adjustments (630,434) - 

Change in operating assets and liabilities: 
Decrease in trade and other receivables 5,668,239 1,813,728 
Decrease in inventories - 19,175
Decrease/(increase) in income tax refund due (359,062)  239,485
Decrease/(increase) in deferred tax assets 1,126,519 (47,342)
Decrease/(increase) in accrued revenue (771,635)  1,198,544
Decrease in prepayments 508,705 165,082
Decrease in other operating assets - 4,875,470
Decrease in trade and other payables (7,209,534) (1,216,369)
Increase/(decrease) in provision for income tax (615,455)  580,410 
Increase in deferred tax liabilities 67,038 -  
Decrease in employee benefits (847,334)  (739,626) 
Increase/(decrease) in other operating liabilities (7,185,888) (6,223,585) 

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities (860,581)  4,957,251 

NNoottee  3366..  CChhaannggeess  iinn  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  aarriissiinngg  ffrroomm  ffiinnaanncciinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess  

Borrowings Total 
CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  $ $ 

Balance at 1 July 2018 12,902,026 12,902,026 
Proceeds from loans 800,000 800,000 
Repayment of loans (3,402,026)  (3,402,026) 

Balance at 30 June 2019 10,300,000 10,300,000 
Repayment of loans (10,300,000)  (10,300,000) 

Balance at 30 June 2020 - - 
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NNoottee  3377..  FFiinnaanncciiaall  iinnssttrruummeennttss  

FFiinnaanncciiaall  rriisskk  mmaannaaggeemmeenntt  oobbjjeeccttiivveess  
The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk, price risk and interest rate 
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets 
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. The Group uses different methods to 
measure different types of risk to which it is exposed. These methods include sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rate, foreign 
exchange and other price risks, ageing analysis for credit risk. 

Risk management is carried out by senior finance executives ('finance') under policies approved by the Board of Directors ('the Board'). 
These policies include identification and analysis of the risk exposure of the Group and appropriate procedures, controls and risk 
limits. Finance identifies, evaluates and manages financial risks within the Group's operating units. Finance reports to the Board on a 
monthly basis. 

MMaarrkkeett  rriisskk  

FFoorreeiiggnn  ccuurrrreennccyy  rriisskk  
The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currency and is exposed to foreign currency risk through foreign 
exchange rate fluctuations. 

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised financial assets and financial liabilities 
denominated in a currency that is not the entity's functional currency. The risk is measured using sensitivity analysis and cash flow 
forecasting.  

The Group is not currently exposed to any material fluctuations in foreign currency. 

PPrriiccee  rriisskk  
The Group is not exposed to any significant price risk. 

IInntteerreesstt  rraattee  rriisskk  
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in 
market interest rates. 

The table below outlines the variable interest rate on cash at bank and bank loans: 

22002200  22001199  
WWeeiigghhtteedd  
aavveerraaggee  

iinntteerreesstt  rraattee  BBaallaannccee  

WWeeiigghhtteedd  
aavveerraaggee  

iinntteerreesstt  rraattee  BBaallaannccee  
CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  %%  $$  %%  $$  

Cash at bank 0.04% 1,477,477 0.40% 4,284,272 
Bank loans - - 3.76% (10,300,000) 

Net exposure to cash flow interest rate risk 1,477,477 (6,015,728) 

At 30 June 2020, if interest rates had changed by +/- 100 basis points from the year end rates, with all other variables held constant, 
post tax profit for the year would not have changed (2019: $72,100 lower/higher), as a result of higher/lower interest expense from 
variable rate borrowings. 
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CCrreeddiitt  rriisskk  
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge an 
obligation. The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance date of recognised 
financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in 
consolidated statement of financial position and notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

Credit risk for derivative financial instruments arises from the potential failure by counterparties to the contract to meet their 
obligations. 

The Group has adopted a lifetime expected loss allowance in estimating expected credit losses to trade receivables through the use 
of a provisions matrix using fixed rates of credit loss provisioning. These provisions are considered representative across all 
customers of the Group based on recent sales experience, historical collection rates and forward-looking information that is available. 

The Group does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single debtor or Group of debtors under financial instruments 
entered into by the consolidated entity. 

The Group minimises concentrations of credit risk in relation to trade receivables by undertaking transactions with a large number 
of customers. 

Generally, trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators of this include the failure 
of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan, no active enforcement activity and a failure to make contractual payments for a period 
greater than 1 year. 

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, favourable derivative financial instruments and deposits with banks and financial 
institutions, as well as credit exposures to customers, including outstanding receivables and committed transactions. 

LLiiqquuiiddiittyy  rriisskk  
Vigilant liquidity risk management requires the Group to maintain sufficient liquid assets (mainly cash and cash equivalents) and 
available borrowing facilities to be able to pay debts as and when they become due and payable. 

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves and available borrowing facilities by continuously 
monitoring actual and forecast cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 

FFiinnaanncciinngg  aarrrraannggeemmeennttss  
Unused borrowing facilities at the reporting date: 

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
22002200  22001199  

$$  $$  

Credit Card Facility 144,714 245,770 
Indemnity/Guarantee Facilities 281 40,046 
Electronic Payaway Facility 500,000 500,000 

644,995 785,816 

Subject to meeting bank covenants, the bank facilities can be drawn at any time. 
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MMaattuurriittyy  AAnnaallyyssiiss  
The following tables detail the Group's remaining contractual maturity for its financial instrument liabilities. The tables have been 
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the financial liabilities are 
required to be paid. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows disclosed as remaining contractual maturities and 
therefore these totals may differ from their carrying amount in the statement of financial position. 
  

  

 Weighted 
average 

interest rate 

 

1 year or less 

 
Between 1 

and 2 years 

 
Between 2 

and 5 years 

 

Over 5 years 

 Remaining 
contractual 
maturities 

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  --  22002200   %  $  $  $  $  $ 
              
NNoonn--ddeerriivvaattiivveess              
Non-interest bearing             
Trade payables  -  364,145  -  -  -  364,145 
GST payables (net)  -  292,360  -  -  -  292,360 
Other payables  -  2,339,049  -  -  -  2,339,049 
Accrued expenses  -  3,361,093  -  -  -  3,361,093 
             
Interest-bearing - fixed rate             
Lease liability  4.00%   529,483  343,513  78,452  -  951,448 
Total non-derivatives    6,886,130  343,513  78,452  -  7,308,095 
  

  

 Weighted 
average 

interest rate 

 

1 year or less 

 
Between 1 

and 2 years 

 
Between 2 

and 5 years 

 

Over 5 years 

 Remaining 
contractual 
maturities 

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  --  22001199   %  $  $  $  $  $ 
              
NNoonn--ddeerriivvaattiivveess              
Non-interest bearing             
Trade payables  -  5,747,365  -  -  -  5,747,365 
GST payables (net)  -  1,165,163  -  -  -  1,165,163 
Other payables  -  2,814,556  -  -  -  2,814,556 
Accrued expenses  -  3,538,162  -  -  -  3,538,162 
             
Interest-bearing - variable             
Bank loans  3.76%   10,300,000  -  -  -  10,300,000 
Total non-derivatives    23,565,246  -  -  -  23,565,246 
  
The cash flows in the maturity analysis above are not expected to occur significantly earlier than contractually disclosed above. 
  
FFaaiirr  vvaalluuee  ooff  ffiinnaanncciiaall  iinnssttrruummeennttss  
The fair values of cash, receivables, other payables and current tax payables approximate their carrying amounts as a result of their 
short-term maturity. 
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NNoottee  3388..  KKeeyy  mmaannaaggeemmeenntt  ppeerrssoonnnneell  ddiisscclloossuurreess  

CCoommppeennssaattiioonn  
The aggregate compensation made to Directors and other members of key management personnel of the Group is set out below: 

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
22002200  22001199  

$$  $$  

Short-term employee benefits 1,299,220 1,251,628 
Post-employment benefits 56,122 107,505 
Termination benefits 381,189 -  
Share-based payments - (230,863)

1,736,531 1,128,270 

Further details of key management personnel compensation are contained within the Remuneration Report section of the Directors' 
Report. 

NNoottee  3399..  RReemmuunneerraattiioonn  ooff  aauuddiittoorrss  

During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by Moore Australia Audit (Vic) Pty Ltd, the 
auditor of the Company: 

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
22002200  22001199  

$$  $$  

Audit services - Moore Australia Audit (Vic) Pty Ltd 
Audit or review of the financial statements 158,162 167,169 

Other services - Moore Australia Audit (Vic) Pty Ltd 
Other 4,000 2,140 

162,162 169,309 

NNoottee  4400..  CCoonnttiinnggeenntt  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  

The Group has given bank guarantees as at 30 June 2020 of $388,219 (2019: $459,954) in satisfaction of building lease guarantees, 
as per the financing arrangements outlined in Note 37. 
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NNoottee  4411..  CCoommmmiittmmeennttss  
  
   CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
   22002200   22001199  
   $$   $$  
        
Lease commitments - operating     
Committed at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, payable:     
Within one year  47,692   1,048,208  
One to five years  -    2,255,675  
     
  47,692   3,303,883  

  
Operating lease commitments includes contracted amounts for various offices under non-cancellable operating leases expiring 
within 1 to 4 years with, in some cases, options to extend. The leases have various escalation clauses. On renewal, the terms of the 
leases are renegotiated. 
  

NNoottee  4422..  RReellaatteedd  ppaarrttyy  ttrraannssaaccttiioonnss  
  
PPaarreenntt  eennttiittyy  
PS&C Ltd is the parent entity. 
  
SSuubbssiiddiiaarriieess  
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 45. 
  
KKeeyy  mmaannaaggeemmeenntt  ppeerrssoonnnneell  
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 38 and the remuneration report included in the Directors' 
report. 
  
TTrraannssaaccttiioonnss  wwiitthh  rreellaatteedd  ppaarrttiieess  
On the 31 January 2020, the Group successfully divested its wholly owned subsidiary, GlassandCo Pty Ltd ('Glass') to Vitrics Pty Ltd 
('Vitrics'). Vitrics is a company controlled by: 
   
  - Glenn Fielding, the former CEO of the Company and a former Non-Executive Director of the Company;  
  - Jeffrey Bennett, the former CFO and former Company Secretary;  
  - Erin Brown, Sales Director of Glass; and 
  - Wayne Custodio, Practice Director of Glass. 
  
RReecceeiivvaabbllee  ffrroomm  aanndd  ppaayyaabbllee  ttoo  rreellaatteedd  ppaarrttiieess  
There were no trade receivables from or trade payables to related parties at the current and previous reporting date. 
  
LLooaannss  ttoo//ffrroomm  rreellaatteedd  ppaarrttiieess  
The following balances are outstanding at the reporting date in relation to loans with related parties: 
  
   CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
   22002200   22001199  
   $$   $$  
        
Current receivables:     
Loans to commonly controlled entities  400,000   21,673,091  
     
Current borrowings:     
Loans from commonly controlled entities  400,000   21,673,091  
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TTeerrmmss  aanndd  ccoonnddiittiioonnss  
All transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates. 

NNoottee  4433..  PPaarreenntt  eennttiittyy  iinnffoorrmmaattiioonn  

Set out below is the supplementary information about the parent entity. 

SSttaatteemmeenntt  ooff  pprrooffiitt  oorr  lloossss  aanndd  ootthheerr  ccoommpprreehheennssiivvee  iinnccoommee  

PPaarreenntt  
22002200  22001199  

$$  $$  

Profit/(loss) after income tax 14,087,061 (58,638,606) 

Total comprehensive income 14,087,061 (58,638,606) 

SSttaatteemmeenntt  ooff  ffiinnaanncciiaall  ppoossiittiioonn  

PPaarreenntt  
22002200  22001199  

$$  $$  

Total current assets 11,459,759 1,924,638 

Total assets 48,638,523 54,450,251 

Total current liabilities 7,599,629 40,596,384 

Total liabilities 8,360,482 43,328,868 

Equity 
Issued capital 90,360,229 91,206,990 
Revaluation surplus reserve 1,500,000 -  
Employee share options/Performance rights reserve 760 593,769 
Accumulated losses (51,582,948)  (80,679,376) 

Total equity 40,278,041 11,121,383 

GGuuaarraanntteeeess  eenntteerreedd  iinnttoo  bbyy  tthhee  ppaarreenntt  eennttiittyy  iinn  rreellaattiioonn  ttoo  tthhee  ddeebbttss  ooff  iittss  ssuubbssiiddiiaarriieess  
Please see Note 46 in relation to the deed of cross guarantee in place. 

CCoonnttiinnggeenntt  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  
The parent entity has entered into acquisition agreements with the entities described in Note 44. Under the terms of the agreements, 
the parent entity may have to pay more than what has been provided for in contingent consideration in Note 44 if the entities’ 
operating performance is better than forecast for the purposes of calculating contingent consideration. Other than that, the parent 
entity had no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2020. 

CCaappiittaall  ccoommmmiittmmeennttss  --  PPrrooppeerrttyy,,  ppllaanntt  aanndd  eeqquuiippmmeenntt  
The parent entity had no capital commitments for property, plant and equipment at as 30 June 2020. 
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SSiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess  
The accounting policies of the parent entity are consistent with those of the Group, as disclosed in note 1, except for the following: 
● Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost, less any impairment, in the parent entity.
● Investments in associates are accounted for at cost, less any impairment, in the parent entity.
● Dividends received from subsidiaries are recognised as other income by the parent entity and its receipt may be an indicator of an impairment

of the investment.

NNoottee  4444..  BBuussiinneessss  ccoommbbiinnaattiioonnss  

(a) Current Period

Respring Pty Ltd 

On 1 April 2020, PS&C Ltd acquired 100% of the ordinary shares of Respring Pty Ltd. The business is a digital technology firm that 
specialises in advising/or investing in underperforming, but high potential, digital companies in growing markets. As part of the 
acquisition, PS&C has acquired a 100% interest in farmbuy.com, Australia's leading dedicated rural and lifestyle property real estate 
web portal. It operates in the farmbuy.com division of the Group.  

Details of the purchase consideration, the net assets acquired and goodwill are set out below. The goodwill of $3,249,020 represents 
the amount of consideration paid for the business acquisition less fair value of net assets, plus additional amounts paid for 
performance, both current and implied by forecasts. The acquired business contributed revenue of $2,382 and a loss before tax of 
$21,153 from 1 April 2020 to 30 June 2020. If the acquisition occurred on 1 July 2019, the full year contribution would have been a 
loss before tax of $148,545.  

The Directors are still assessing any potential impacts to the total consideration transferred whilst within the measurement period. 
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Details of the acquisition are as follows: 

Respring Pty 
Ltd 

Total 
Acquired 

Fair value Fair value 
$ $ 

Cash and cash equivalents 175,358 175,358 
Trade receivables 200 200 
Other receivables 10,207 10,207 
Plant and equipment 472 472 
Development 23,181 23,181 
Website 1,350,880 1,350,880 
Intellectual property 10,000 10,000 
Patents and trademarks 80,682 80,682 
Other payables (400,000)  (400,000) 

Net assets acquired 1,250,980 1,250,980 
Goodwill 3,249,020 3,249,020 

Acquisition-date fair value of the total consideration transferred 4,500,000 4,500,000 

Representing: 
PS&C Ltd shares issued to vendor 4,500,000 4,500,000 

Cash used to acquire business, net of cash acquired: 
Acquisition-date fair value of the total consideration transferred 4,500,000 4,500,000 
Less: cash and cash equivalents (175,358)  (175,358) 
Less: shares issued by company as part of consideration (4,500,000)  (4,500,000) 

Net cash received (175,358)  (175,358) 

Acquisition costs expensed to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income during the year ended 30 June 2020 
amounted to $125,386 (2019: $645,037) for services provided by consultants and legal advisers as well as share issue costs. This 
was incurred in relation to existing businesses and prospective transactions. 

During the year ending 30 June 2020, cash payments of $2,860,224 were made to the vendors of the businesses acquired in prior 
periods, in satisfaction of business purchase and earn out payments as per the terms of the share sale and purchase agreements. In 
addition, $750,000 worth of PS&C Ltd shares (equal to 18,750,000 shares) were issued in satisfaction of business purchase and earn 
out payments, as per the terms of the share sale and purchase agreements. 

(b) Prior Period
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Artisan Consulting Pty Ltd 
 
On 1 February 2019, PS&C Ltd acquired 100% of the ordinary shares of Artisan Consulting Pty Ltd. This business is exclusively 
focussed on Salesforce solutions and is currently a Salesforce Silver Tier System Implementation / Consulting Partner servicing mid-
large enterprises. It operates in the People division of the Group.  
 
Details of the purchase consideration, the net assets acquired and goodwill are set out below. The goodwill of $1,562,756 represents 
the amount of consideration paid for the business acquisition less fair value of net assets, plus additional amounts paid for 
performance, both current and implied by forecasts. The acquired business contributed revenue of $506,406 and profit after tax of 
$108,131 from 1 February 2019 to 30 June 2019. If the acquisition occurred on 1 July 2018, the full year contribution would have been 
a profit after tax of $260,755.  
 
Under the terms of the agreement, the parent entity may have to pay more (or less) than what has been provided for in contingent 
consideration if the entity's operating performance is better (or worse) than forecast for the purposes of calculating contingent 
consideration. The Directors are still assessing any potential impacts to the total consideration transferred whilst within the 
measurement period. 
  
Details of the acquisition are as follows: 
  

  

 Artisan 
Consulting 

Pty Ltd  

 
Total 

Acquired 
   Fair value  Fair value 
   $  $ 
      
Cash and cash equivalents  118,918  118,918 
Trade receivables  56,513  56,513 
Other payables  (41,549)  (41,549) 
Provision for income tax  (35,045)  (35,045) 
Employee benefits  (20,590)  (20,590) 
     
Net assets acquired  78,247  78,247 
Goodwill  1,562,756  1,562,756 
     
Acquisition-date fair value of the total consideration transferred  1,641,003  1,641,003 

     
Representing:     
Cash paid or payable to vendor  240,000  240,000 
PS&C Ltd shares issued to vendor  920,889  920,889 
Deferred consideration  480,114  480,114 
     
  1,641,003  1,641,003 

     
Cash used to acquire business, net of cash acquired:     
Acquisition-date fair value of the total consideration transferred  1,641,003  1,641,003 
Less: cash and cash equivalents  (118,918)  (118,918) 
Less: deferred consideration  (480,114)  (480,114) 
Less: shares issued by company as part of consideration  (920,889)  (920,889) 
     
Net cash used  121,082  121,082 
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   CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
   22002200   22001199  
   $$   $$  
        
Cash used to acquire business, net of cash acquired:     
Acquisition-date fair value of the total consideration transferred  4,500,000   1,641,003  
Less: cash and cash equivalents  (175,358)  (118,918) 
Less: shares issued by company as part of consideration  (4,500,000)  (920,889) 
Less: deferred consideration  -    (480,114) 
     
Net cash used/(received)  (175,358)  121,082  
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NNoottee  4455..  IInntteerreessttss  iinn  ssuubbssiiddiiaarriieess  
  
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in accordance with 
the accounting policy described in Note 1: 
  
      OOwwnneerrsshhiipp  iinntteerreesstt  
   PPrriinncciippaall  ppllaaccee  ooff  bbuussiinneessss  //   22002200   22001199  
NNaammee   CCoouunnttrryy  ooff  iinnccoorrppoorraattiioonn   %%   %%  
           
Respring Pty Ltd  Australia  100.00%   - 
Systems and People Pty Ltd  Australia  100.00%   100.00%  
Bexton IT Services Pty Ltd  Australia  100.00%   100.00%  
Sacon Group Pty Ltd  Australia  100.00%   100.00%  
Coroma Consulting Pty Ltd  Australia  100.00%   100.00%  
Seisma Pty Ltd  Australia  100.00%   100.00%  
Artisan Consulting Pty Ltd  Australia  100.00%   100.00%  
Certitude Pty Ltd  Australia  -  100.00%  
Hacklabs Pty Ltd  Australia  -  100.00%  
Pure Hacking Pty Ltd  Australia  -  100.00%  
Securus Global Consulting Pty Ltd  Australia  -  100.00%  
NTH Consulting Pty Ltd  Australia  -  100.00%  
GlassandCo Pty Ltd  Australia  -  100.00%  
  

NNoottee  4466..  DDeeeedd  ooff  ccrroossss  gguuaarraanntteeee  
  
The following entities are party to a deed of cross guarantee under which each company guarantees the debts of the others: 
  
Artisan Consulting Pty Ltd 
Bexton IT Services Pty Ltd 
Systems and People Pty Ltd 
Coroma Consulting Pty Ltd 
Sacon Group Pty Ltd 
Seisma Pty Ltd 
PS&C Ltd 
  
By entering into the deed, the wholly-owned entities have been relieved from the requirement to prepare financial statements and 
Directors' report under Corporations Instrument 2016/785 issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission. 
  
The above companies represent a 'Closed Group' for the purposes of the Corporations Instrument, and as there are no other parties 
to the deed of cross guarantee that are controlled by PS&C Ltd, they also represent the 'Extended Closed Group'. 
  
The statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and statement of financial position are the same as the Group and 
therefore have not been separately disclosed. 
  

NNoottee  4477..  EEaarrnniinnggss  ppeerr  sshhaarree  
  
   CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
   22002200   22001199  
   $$   $$  
        
Earnings per share for profit/(loss) from continuing operations     
Profit/(loss) after income tax attributable to the members of PS&C Ltd  3,802,915   (52,634,935) 
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   NNuummbbeerr   NNuummbbeerr  
        
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings per share  340,049,980  279,474,026 
     
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted earnings per share  340,049,980  279,474,026 

  
   CCeennttss   CCeennttss  
        
Basic earnings per share  1.12  (18.83) 
Diluted earnings per share  1.12  (18.83) 
  
   CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
   22002200   22001199  
   $$   $$  
        
Earnings per share for loss from discontinued operations     
Loss after income tax attributable to the members of PS&C Ltd  (766,791)  (854,378) 

  
   CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  GGrroouupp  
   22002200   22001199  
   $$   $$  
        
Earnings per share for profit/(loss)     
Profit/(loss) after income tax attributable to the members of PS&C Ltd  3,036,124   (53,489,313) 

  
   NNuummbbeerr   NNuummbbeerr  
        
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings per share  340,049,980  279,474,026 
     
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted earnings per share  340,049,980  279,474,026 

  
   CCeennttss   CCeennttss  
        
Basic earnings per share  0.89  (19.14) 
Diluted earnings per share  0.89  (19.14) 
  

NNoottee  4488..  EEvveennttss  aafftteerr  tthhee  rreeppoorrttiinngg  ppeerriioodd  
  
On the 13 July 2020, the Group announced that it had successfully completed the Unmarketable Parcel Share sale. The Company 
provided the facility to holders of Unmarketable Parcels (UMP) to sell their shares without incurring any brokerage or handling costs 
that could otherwise make a sale of their shares uneconomic or difficult.  
 
After holders of UMP were given the opportunity to top up their holdings or elect to continue to hold their UMP, the number of shares 
to be sold under the facility was 1,831,491 ordinary shares being held by a total of 501 shareholders. 
  
On the 14 July 2020, the Group announced that it will invest up to $1,500,000 in the Fin-Tech start up - The 1derful Group Pty Ltd 
(1derful) to own a strategic stake in 1derful. This will provide our shareholders with an opportunity to benefit from their success when 
they launch their products towards the end of this year. 
 
On the same day, the Group made an initial investment of $1,250,000 in 1derful subscribing to 1,250,000 of Convertible Notes at a 
face value of $1.00 per note. 
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On the 6 August 2020, the Group announced the appointment of Mr Nicholas Chan as a Non-Executive Director of the Board. 
  
The COVID-19 pandemic has created unprecedented uncertainty of the economic environment. Actual economic events and 
conditions in future may be materially different from those estimated by the group at the reporting date. In the event the COVID-19 
pandemic impacts are more severe or prolonged than anticipated, this may have further adverse impacts to the group. At the date 
of the annual report an estimate of the future effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on the group cannot be made, as the impact will 
depend on the magnitude and duration of the economic downturn, with the full range of possible effects unknown. 
 
Further considerations in relation to the COVID-19 pandemic are included in the going concern disclosure on page 21 and note 1 to 
the consolidated financial statements. 
  
No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2020 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the Group's 
operations, the results of those operations, or the Group's state of affairs in future financial years. 
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In the Directors' opinion: 

● the attached financial statements and notes comply with the Corporations Act 2001, the Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations
2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements;

● the attached financial statements and notes comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board as described in note 1 to the financial statements;

● the attached financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its performance 
for the financial year ended on that date;

● there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable; and

● at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members of the Extended Closed Group will be able to meet
any obligations or liabilities to which they are, or may become, subject by virtue of the deed of cross guarantee described in note 46 to the 
financial statements.

The Directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of Directors made pursuant to section 295(5)(a) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

On behalf of the Directors 

___________________________ 
Robert Hogeland 
Managing Director 

25 August 2020 
Melbourne 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

TO THE MEMBERS OF PS&C LIMITED & CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of PS&C Limited & Controlled Entities (the Group), which comprises 

the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020, the consolidated statement of profit 

or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the 

consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 

including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors’ declaration. 

In our opinion: 

a) the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,

including:

i. giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its

financial performance for the year then ended; and

ii. complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in

Note 1.

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 

Report section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor 

independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the 

Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 

Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also 

fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 

our audit of the financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of 

our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 

separate opinion on these matters. 



KEY AUDIT MATTER 1 – VALUE OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Refer to Note 15 “Non-Current Assets - Intangibles” 

As at 30 June 2020, the Group has total 

intangible assets of $33m. As required by 

Australian Accounting Standards, the Group 

must assess whether there are any indicators of 

impairment relating to the Group’s Intangible 

Assets. 

We considered this a key audit matter due to the 

size of this balance and because the Directors’ 

assessment of the ‘value in use’ of the Group’s 

CGUs involve complex judgements about the 

future results of the CGU and the discount rates 

applied to the future cash flows, which are both 

inherently uncertain. 

Based on the annual impairment test whereby a 
discounted cash flow model was prepared, the 
board concluded that no impairment charge was 
required for the year ended 30 June 2020. 

Our procedures included, amongst others: 

 We evaluated management’s cash flow
forecasts and the process by which they
were developed, including verifying the
mathematical accuracy of the underlying
calculations.  We also compared them to
the latest board approved budgets.

 We also challenged whether:

1. Management’s key assumptions for
short and long term growth rates in the
forecasts were appropriate,
considering the historical reliability of
the Group’s cash flow forecasting
process;

2. The discount rate used in the model
was appropriate by assessing the cost
of capital for the Group by comparing it
to market data and industry research.

 We then tested the assumptions used by
management, analysing the impact on the
value in use calculation by adjusting the
EBIT growth rate, WACC and terminal
value growth rate used within a reasonably
foreseeable range.

 We independently developed expectations
regarding the impairment testing results
based on our understanding of the CGUs
and the Group’s historic achievement of
budgeted results.  We evaluated the
Group’s impairment testing results against
those expectations.

We assessed the adequacy of the Group’s 
disclosure of key assumptions used and 
sensitivities to changes in assumptions as 
required by Australian Accounting Standards. 



KEY AUDIT MATTER 2 – DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 

Refer to Note 8 “Discontinued Operations” 

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group 

divested its ownership in the Security Segment, 

NTH Consulting Pty Ltd and Glassandco Pty Ltd. 

As required by Australian Accounting Standards, 

the Group is required to disclose these 

divestments in the financial report as a single line 

item within the statement of profit & loss and other 

comprehensive income. 

We considered this a key audit matter due to the 

size of these transactions and the qualitative 

nature of information that this will provide to all 

users of the financial statements 

Our procedures included, amongst others: 

 Obtaining and reviewing the share
sale agreements in detail to
understand the key terms and
conditions of the respective
divestments;

 Assessing the disposal accounting
prepared by the Group to ensure
assets, liabilities, revenue and
expenses relating to the
discontinued operations are
accurately identified and reported;

 Reviewing the profit & loss
statement of the divested
businesses up until the date of
disposal; and

 Performing a detailed review of the
disclosure made in the financial
report to ensure this is correctly
stated and in accordance with the
requirements of AASB 5: Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations.

KEY AUDIT MATTER 3 – ACCOUNTING FOR BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 

Refer to Note 44 “Business Combinations” 

During the year, the Group acquired Respring 

Pty Ltd. The details of this acquisition are 

disclosed in Note 44 of the financial report. 

We considered this a key audit matter given the 

financial significance of the acquisition and the 

complex judgements required by the Group in 

accounting for the acquisition.  

These judgements include identifying and 

estimating the fair value of assets and liabilities 

acquired, including the identifiable intangible 

assets acquired. The Group was assisted by an 

external valuation expert in this process. 

Our procedures included, amongst others: 

 Obtaining and reviewing the share
sale agreements in detail to
understand the key terms and
conditions of the acquisition;

 Evaluating the Group’s accounting

for this acquisition against the

requirements of Australian

Accounting Standards.

 Assessing the appropriateness of

the fair values of the acquired

assets and liabilities recognised,

including:



1. Reviewing the judgements and

methodology used by the

external valuer to ensure this

was appropriate.

2. Reviewing the identifiable

intangible assets acquired,

including the assessment of the

useful live relating to

identifiable intangible assets.

 Performing a detailed review of the

disclosure made in the financial

report to ensure this is correctly

stated and in accordance with the

requirements of AASB 3: Business

Combinations.

Other Information 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 

included in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2020, but does not include the financial 

report and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not 

express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 

in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or 

our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 

information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The directors of the Group are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true 

and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and 

for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial 

report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 



Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 

our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 

conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 

individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 

of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located on the Auditing 

and Assurance Standards Board website at:  

https://www.auasb.gov.au/admin/file/content102/c3/ar1_2020.pdf 

This description forms part of our auditor’s report. 

Report on the Remuneration Report 

Opinion on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 12 to 15 of the directors’ report for the 

year ended 30 June 2020. 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of PS&C Limited, for the year ended 30 June 2020 complies 

with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Responsibilities 

The directors of the Group are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration 

Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express 

an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian 

Auditing Standards.  

MOORE AUSTRALIA AUDIT (VIC) 

ABN 16 847 721 257 

GEORGE S DAKIS 

Partner 

Audit and Assurance 

Melbourne, Victoria 

25 August 2020  

https://www.auasb.gov.au/admin/file/content102/c3/ar1_2020.pdf
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The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 14 August 2020. 
  
DDiissttrriibbuuttiioonn  ooff  eeqquuiittaabbllee  sseeccuurriittiieess  
Analysis of number of equitable security holders by size of holding: 
  
       NNuummbbeerr   NNuummbbeerr    
       ooff  hhoollddeerrss   ooff  sshhaarreess  
              
              
        
1 to 1,000  46  16,823 
1,001 to 5,000  57  169,759 
5,001 to 10,000  27  227,391 
10,001 to 100,000  366  15,410,728 
100,001 and over  227  485,278,814 
     
  723  501,103,515 

     
Holding less than a marketable parcel  -  - 

  
EEqquuiittyy  sseeccuurriittyy  hhoollddeerrss  
  
TTwweennttyy  llaarrggeesstt  qquuootteedd  eeqquuiittyy  sseeccuurriittyy  hhoollddeerrss  
The names of the twenty largest security holders of quoted equity securities are listed below: 
  
     OOrrddiinnaarryy  sshhaarreess    
          %%  ooff  ttoottaall    
          sshhaarreess    
     NNuummbbeerr  hheelldd   iissssuueedd  
        
TOON CONSULTING PTY LTD, FALCONER FAMILY A/C  50,000,000  9.98 
ANALYST RECRUITMENT PTY LTD, MURTAGH FAMILY A/C  50,000,000  9.98 
PEANO INVESTMENTS PTY LTD  50,000,000  9.98 
FIP INVESTMENTS PTY LTD  20,946,765  4.18 
MR BLAIR CAMERON GOWANS  15,927,882  3.18 
MASAL PTY LTD  14,693,607  2.93 
KANDO CORPORATION PTY LTD  14,105,486  2.81 
IITCA PTY LTD, THE HOGELAND FAMILY A/C  13,725,492  2.74 
FLASHLIGHT ADVISORY PTY LTD  13,023,713  2.60 
MRS LAURA CATHERINE GOWANS  12,052,032  2.41 
AUSTRALIAN EXECUTOR TRUSTEES LIMITED NO 1 ACCOUNT  9,336,000  1.86 
BLVD PTY LTD  9,296,875  1.86 
MR RICHARD ADRIAN CLARKE  9,000,000  1.80 
IQ RENTAL & FINANCE PTY LTD, WATTS FAMILY A/C  8,000,000  1.60 
GLENNFIELD PTY LTD, GLENNFIELD FAMILY A/C  7,687,742  1.53 
PJW CONSULTING GROUP PTY LTD, THE WIGHTON FAMILY A/C  6,176,470  1.23 
HIXON PTY LTD  6,119,024  1.22 
LINFIELD FC PTY LTD, HANSEN FAMILY A/C  5,835,734  1.16 
HGQ INVESTMENTS PTY LTD  5,558,821  1.11 
MR PAUL RICHARD FIELDING  5,352,339  1.07 
     
  326,837,982  65.23 

  
UUnnqquuootteedd  eeqquuiittyy  sseeccuurriittiieess  
There are no unquoted equity securities. 
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SSuubbssttaannttiiaall  hhoollddeerrss  
Substantial holders in the Company are set out below: 
  
     OOrrddiinnaarryy  sshhaarreess    
          %%  ooff  ttoottaall    
          sshhaarreess    
     NNuummbbeerr  hheelldd   iissssuueedd  
        
Falconer, Keith  75,000,000  14.97 
Murtagh, Lucas  75,000,000  14.97 
  
VVoottiinngg  rriigghhttss  
The voting rights attached to ordinary shares are set out below: 
  
OOrrddiinnaarryy  sshhaarreess  
On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each share shall 
have one vote. 
  
There are no other classes of equity securities. 
  
SSeeccuurriittiieess  ssuubbjjeecctt  ttoo  vvoolluunnttaarryy  eessccrrooww  
  
          NNuummbbeerr    
CCllaassss   EExxppiirryy  ddaattee   ooff  sshhaarreess  
        
Ordinary  01/10/2020  37,500,000 
Ordinary  01/04/2021  37,500,000 
Ordinary  01/10/2021  37,500,000 
Ordinary  01/04/2022  37,500,000 
     
    150,000,000 
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